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Joanne Dwyer
Chair of the Board

Report of Operations
Preamble
The 2018 Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with all relevant legislation and subordinate 
instruments, including, but not limited to, the following:

Education and Training Reform Act 2006 (ETRA)

The Constitution of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of 
Technical and Further Education Order 2016

Directions of the Minister for Training and Skills and 
the Minister for Higher Education (or predecessors)

Commercial Guidelines - TAFE Institutes

Strategic Planning Guidelines - TAFE Institutes

Public Administration Act 2004

Financial Management Act 1994

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Building Act 1993

Protected Disclosure Act 2012

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

The required reporting appears throughout the Annual 
Report. A disclosure index appears at the end of the 
Annual Report to facilitate identification of compliance 
with statutory disclosure requirements.

Annual Report declaration
GOTAFE has implemented and maintained a process to 
ensure its Annual Report is prepared in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 1994, Standing Directions, 
Instructions, Financial Reporting Directions, applicable 
Australian Accounting Standards and relevant legislation 
and instruments. I am pleased to present the GOTAFE 
Annual Report for the year ending 31 December 2018.
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Introduction
For more than 20 years, GOTAFE has been an intrinsic 
part of our local communities, delivering quality skills and 
training and championing equity.
The heart of GOTAFE’s mission has – and always will 
be – supporting our communities to adjust and adapt 
as local and global economies change and affect local 
industries and opportunities.
GOTAFE is the largest tertiary education provider 
in northern Victoria. The region GOTAFE principally 
services covers 11 local government areas with an 
estimated resident population of over 242,000 people.
In 2018 GOTAFE’s annual turnover exceeded $60 million. 
Training delivery exceeded 3.1 million student contact 
hours (SCHs) to over 9,500 individual students.

Establishment and charter
GOTAFE was established on 1 October 1996 with 
the merger of Goulburn Valley Institute of TAFE and 
Wangaratta Institute of TAFE.

GOTAFE is established under the Education and Training 
Reform Act 2006. Its powers and duties are primarily 
established in its Constitution, the Education and Training 
Reform Act 2006 and the Financial Management Act 
1994.
The principal objectives and functions of GOTAFE are to:
• provide vocational education and training and quality 

outcomes through excellent teaching, innovation and 
educational leadership;

• provide tertiary education and consultancy services 
that meets the unique skill needs of the region and 
lead to workforce development, industry productivity 
and enterprise business success;

• build community capacity and enrich the lives of 
young people and adults through lifelong learning and 
personal development; and

• issue vocational training qualifications to eligible 
individuals.

As a Victorian Government agency, GOTAFE supports 
government education priorities and the economic 
development of the region and its industry workforce.
The Hon. Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training and 
Skills and Minister for Higher Education, is responsible 
for TAFE institutes and the broader tertiary education 
sector in Victoria.

Strategic Plan
In 2018 the Board adopted its 2018-2023 Strategic Plan*.
The plan sets four strategic goals for GOTAFE:
• Deliver excellence in education
• Optimise the student experience through efficient and 

productive operations
• Develop and foster meaningful partnerships with 

government, industry and other stakeholders
• Strategically diversify and maximise revenue.

Values
GOTAFE’s people, practices and processes commit to 
the following values:
• Integrity
• Collaboration
• Accountability
• Respect
• Excellence

Community

Staff

Industry

Students 

Government

Vision: A thriving organisation known for inspiring, motivating and equipping people for success

Deliver excellence in education

Optimise the student experience through 
efficient and productive operations

Develop and foster meaningful 
partnerships with government, industry 

and other stakeholders

Strategically diversify 
and maximise revenue

Strategic Goal 2 

Strategic Goal 1 

Strategic Goal 3 

Strategic Goal 4 

1. Develop the education strategy (incl. program 
portfolio and strategic education projects)

2. Build culture and capability to deliver quality education

3. Optimise business processes through a 
redesigned and enhanced workforce capability

4. Review infrastructure and asset utilisation

5. Review our operating model

6. Implement a quality management framework 
(incl. processes, people, accountabilities and systems) 

to meet all compliance requirements

7. Develop a strategic partnership framework

8. Develop our advocacy model

9. Develop and implement a commercial development 
strategy (incl. growth corridors and digital marketing)

10. Explore and pursue targeted national 
and international education opportunities

Purpose: Enabling people to realise their potential and enhance their communities

Drivers Goals Initiatives
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Board Chair Report
The passion and dedication shown by the GOTAFE 
team again enabled our students to achieve educational 
success in 2018. The shape of this success varied 
from student to student, whether it was completing an 
apprenticeship, learning how to speak English, mastering 
skills in the kitchen or salon, or becoming proficient in 
nursing and caring for others.

On behalf of the Board I sincerely thank the teaching staff 
for their amazing efforts to ensure each student received 
a high quality education. Further the Board recognises 
the contributions of each team member working in areas 
ranging from customer service and marketing, through to 
administration and asset management. The high standard 
in service delivery from these areas combined with 
teaching excellence is fundamental to the achievement 
of the GOTAFE vision to “Be a thriving organisation 
known for inspiring, motivating and equipping people 
for success”. This vision was set as part of the strategic 
planning progress in 2018. The Strategic Plan 2018-2023 
provides a foundation for the organisation to continue 
to strengthen its performance and ensure it is future 
focused and effective.

The Board was delighted to welcome the Victorian 
Commissioner for Gender and Sexuality, Ro Allen, to 
the Board, along with Suellen Loki as the staff elected 
Director in July 2018. I thank them both, along with 
all other Directors, for providing a strong commitment 
to strengthening the governance and oversight of the 
organisation throughout 2018.

The Board farewelled CEO Paul Culpan, after almost 
a decade in the role. On behalf of the Board I would 
like to acknowledge Paul’s commitment and service 
to the organisation. I would also like to acknowledge 
the support of Jennifer Oliver, who provided valuable 
leadership to GOTAFE as Interim CEO following Paul’s 
departure.

In June, the Board appointed Travis Heeney as GOTAFE 
CEO. In making this appointment the Board established 
an ambitious agenda to transform the organisation’s 
culture and performance and to deliver on the vision 
it had set for GOTAFE. I thank the CEO and his 
executive team for their willingness to lead this ambitious 
transformation and for their continued support and 
commitment.

GOTAFE’s success is ultimately measured by the 
success of our students and the outcomes for our 
partners. During the year, the Board was delighted to see 
so many GOTAFE students excelling in their fields and 
leading the region and the state in their achievements. 
The Board was honoured to attend the Victorian 
Training Awards and support two GOTAFE students, 
school-based trainee Sophie Babycz, and Engineering 
Apprentice Matthew Shipard, who were both nominated 
for Awards and delighted when Sophie Babycz was 
announced as a winner.

The Board acknowledges the support of The Hon. 
Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training and Skills and 
Minister for Higher Education within the Department of 
Education and Training Victoria. Their support during 
the year has been greatly appreciated. In particular the 
Board acknowledges the assistance of the Regional and 
Specialist Training Fund and the Free TAFE initiative 
which have been instrumental in ensuring regional TAFE 
institutes can provide a training system that is innovative, 
collaborative, equitable and flexible.

I thank the Board Directors for their commitment and 
support during the year and look forward to another 
successful year at GOTAFE in 2019.

Joanne Dwyer
Chair of the Board
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Chief Executive Officer Report
As I reflect on my first six months as CEO of GOTAFE I 
am proud of the organisation’s achievements and I am 
looking forward to 2019 with optimism and confidence.

In 2018 the Board set a clear agenda for transforming the 
organisation, inspired by a new vision and strategic plan. 
With the support of the executive team, we have worked 
diligently to strengthen the organisation and ensure it 
is well positioned to deliver on the Board’s ambitious 
agenda. Planning for the future has been a strong focus 
for the Executive team, with work commencing on the 
development of a comprehensive strategic program 
across a range of organisational pillars including: 
Governance, Education, Student Experience, Assets, 
ICT, Finance, Workforce and Stakeholder Engagement.

A major focus for the last quarter of 2018 has been 
the completion of an Organisational Capability 
Assessment. In August GOTAFE engaged KPMG to 
undertake a comprehensive review of the organisational 
model, structure and core processes, and provide an 
assessment of its capability against the TAFE Capability 
Framework. The Final Report was adopted by the 
Board in January 2019 and the implementation of key 
recommendations will be a focus for 2019.

Most importantly, our students are at the forefront of what 
we do and in 2018 we began implementing strategies to 
improve their experience with us. We are resolute in our 
commitment that all initiatives need to be considered from 
our students’ perspective, and that they graduate with 
practical skills, a clear pathway and strong job prospects. 
Our satisfaction rates continue to outperform most 
other Victorian TAFEs. More than 90% of students and 
local employers expressed satisfaction with the training 
received at GOTAFE, which is a credit to our staff.

We continued to strengthen our links with employers, 
including our valuable partnerships with organisations 
including GV Health, Uniting Care Goulburn East and the 
Dame Pattie Menzies Centre.

We worked hard to engage with new stakeholders 
and commenced a program of business breakfasts 
to strengthen the partnerships with our business 
community. We were delighted to have Alex Rance, 
founder of The Academy and Richmond Football Club 
Premiership player as a guest speaker in Shepparton 
and Wangaratta, showcasing the unique partnership 
between GOTAFE and The Academy, and highlighting 
opportunities for others to partner for success.

We are actively planning for the needs of GOTAFE into 
the future and responding to new opportunities such 
as Free TAFE and the Regional and Specialist Training 
Fund, and I thank the Victorian Minister for Training and 
Skills and Minister for Higher Education, the Hon. Gayle 
Tierney MP, for her ongoing support. We were delighted 
when the Minister announced $2.54 million in funding 
to expand our health and community services training 
facilities at Seymour to meet the growing demand from 
employers in that sector.

I acknowledge the significant contribution made by 
GOTAFE’s executive team, management and staff in 
2018. I thank them for their willingness to embrace 
change and build a positive and effective workplace 
culture which will benefit the whole GOTAFE community.

I also sincerely thank Board Chair Joanne Dwyer and the 
Board for their support, guidance and commitment to the 
organisation.

Travis Heeney
CEO
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Education
Regional and Specialist Training Fund
In 2018 GOTAFE was successful in securing funding 
through the Victorian Government’s Regional and 
Specialist Training Fund. The fund targets specific areas 
where training is needed to ensure businesses can 
access the skilled workers they need in their region and 
industry.

The Hon. Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training 
and Skills and Minister for Higher Education, visited 
GOTAFE’s Shepparton campus in July to announce 
almost $7.5 million to deliver 12 new TAFE courses 
through the Regional and Specialist Training Fund, 
as well as funding to support GOTAFE’s community 
services.

More than $4 million will be used to fund new courses 
to address community needs in growth areas such as 
agriculture industry expansion and innovation, community 
services and National Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS) readiness.

A number of new courses support Indigenous Australians 
to access apprenticeships, traineeships and training, 
and GOTAFE is partnering with the Indigenous National 
Technology and Telecom Network to provide pathways 
into telecommunications work.

More than $3 million in TAFE Community Service funding 
supports GOTAFE community services including Skills 
and Job Centres in Shepparton, Wangaratta, Benalla and 
Seymour.

Extra support is targeted to boost students’ literacy 
and numeracy skills as well as creating a supportive 
TAFE environment for all ability levels and from all 
backgrounds.

Early in the year, Member for Northern Victoria Mark 
Gepp MP announced funding of $564,000 for GOTAFE to 
increase training provision for important industry sectors 
such as allied health, disability support, food processing 
and air-conditioning.

As well as new tools and equipment to teach these 
courses, the Victorian Government has also increased 
the Government subsidy for the courses meaning lower 
tuition fees for students.

By year’s end, GOTAFE has secured Regional and 
Specialist Training Fund places for additional training 
commencements in 27 courses and funding for non-
training activity for 24 courses, amounting to $ 2,075,767.

The Hon. Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training and Skills and 
Minister for Higher Education (centre), with Member for Northern 
Victoria Jaclyn Symes and Labor candidate for Euroa Fionna 
Deppeler-Morton, announced a $2.54 million upgrade to GOTAFE’s 
Seymour facilities.

CRICOS registration achieved
In March GOTAFE received advice from the Australian 
Skills Quality Authority (ASQA) that it was successful in 
its application for registration under the Commonwealth 
Register of Institutions and Courses for Overseas 
Students (CRICOS). The CRICOS is a register of 
Australian education institutions that recruit, enrol and 
teach overseas students. To meet the requirements of 
the federal Department of Home Affairs, GOTAFE has 
developed a suite of policies and procedures, written 
to comply with the Education Services for Overseas 
Students Act 2000 and the ESOS National Code 2018. 
These policies and procedures are in addition to ASQA 
requirements for domestic students and are designed to 
protect the welfare of international students while they 
study in Australia.

The CRICOS registration for GOTAFE includes the 
following courses and campuses:

National 
Course 
Code

CRICOS 
Course 
Code

Course title Campus

FDF50311 096650E
Diploma of 
Food Science
and Technology

Werribee

HLT54115 096648K Diploma of 
Nursing

Shepparton
Wangaratta

Mentoring opportunity for GOTAFE electrical 
apprentices
The National Electrical and Communications Association 
(NECA), along with the Federal Government’s Industry 
Specialist Mentoring for Australian Apprentices (ISMAA) 
developed and introduced a two-year Apprenticeship 
Mentoring Support program available for GOTAFE 
electrical apprentices.

2018 Year in Review
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Throughout 2018 these students learned about the 
professionalism of what it is to be an artist in business 
and within the community. Following the week-long 
exhibition, Kaiela Arts gallery hosted a selection of 
student artwork.

Regional Health and Wellbeing Student 
Conference
GOTAFE once again hosted the Regional Health and 
Wellbeing Student Conference, which gave regional 
GOTAFE health, community and fitness sector students 
a chance to explore the wider health industry. Guest 
speakers on the day included nurse/comedian Georgie 
Carroll and Paralympian and motivational speaker Josh 
Hose.
The Australian Nursing and Midwifery Foundation, Rural 
Workforce Agency Victoria, the Australian Red Cross and 
many others participated, allowing students to explore 
career and further training opportunities.

Scholarship to study in Chile
After an in-depth application process, the State 
Government’s inaugural Lopez-Lochert Scholarship has 
been awarded to GOTAFE student Stephanie Woodhall. 
Stephanie is studying SIT40416 Certificate IV in 
Hospitality at the Seymour campus.

The scholarship carries the names of Rafaela Lopez 
and Peter Lochert, two Victorians who have contributed 
greatly to the Latin American community in Victoria.

The scholarship covers all travel and accommodation 
expenses and will allow Stephanie, along with 19 
other TAFE students from across Victoria, to travel to 
Chile in early 2019. In Chile, Stephanie will participate 
in vocational training courses delivered by Duoc UC, 
a private college, and learn first-hand from Chilean 
winemakers at local wineries.

The NECA mentoring program also supports employers, 
many of whom do not have the time or experience to 
manage all of the issues that arise for apprentices. 
Ultimately, the program is aimed at reducing the number 
of students who drop out of their apprenticeships due to 
stress or other related pressures.

Regional TAFE Alliance Project
A Regional TAFE Alliance Project continued a 
collaboration of seven regional TAFEs to develop and 
share quality eLearning resources. It is funded through 
a $5 million project, overseen by the Victorian TAFE 
Association (VTA), and comprises GOTAFE, Wodonga 
TAFE, South West TAFE, Bendigo Kangan Institute, 
Federation Training, SuniTAFE and The Gordon.

Education quality and assurance leaders from each 
TAFE participated in a workshop where best practice was 
discussed and reviewed. The project team has completed 
the design of generic learning and assessment resources 
that are compatible with each TAFE’s individual system. 
Each TAFE contributed to the final list of courses that 
will be developed under the project with subject matter 
experts working with eLearning developers to create new 
resources for sharing.

Collaboration with the dairy industry
In 2018 GOTAFE collaborated closely with Dairy Australia 
to support their new Dairy Learn model, which allows 
local providers to support the dairy industry in upskilling 
students and workers.

GOTAFE worked in partnership with South West TAFE 
and Federation Training to assist in the transition of dairy 
industry students’ training from former GOTAFE campus 
locations in Warragul, Leongatha and Terang. The 
collaboration ensured a smooth transition for all students, 
employers and industry stakeholders.

Students in those areas are now able to complete 
their qualifications with their local TAFE provider, while 
GOTAFE concentrates its dairy training in north-east 
Victoria.

Arteffects exhibition
An Arteffects Student Exhibition at the Fryers Street 
campus showcased 39 artworks comprising textiles, 
sculpture, artist books, prints, paintings and artefacts by 
CUA31115 Certificate III in Visual Arts and CUA20415 
Certificate II in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Cultural Arts students. An opening ceremony also saw 
GOTAFE student Celina Jukes awarded the Boomerang 
Uncle Sandy Award for Achievement in Cultural Arts 2018. 
GOTAFE student Delrae Lui was runner-up.

The exhibition also featured the Aunty Girl collaborative 
sculpture made for the NAIDOC theme, ‘Because of 
her, we can.’ The architectural mural celebrates the role 
of family and women, using animals indigenous to the 
Goulburn and Murray River region. Aunty Girl was later 
awarded a Highly Commended Award at the Koorie 
Heritage Trust Art Awards for 2018, held at Federation 
Square. This is the first major collaborative sculpture 
produced and the first time a GOTAFE student has ever 
had their work represented at state level.

Aunty Girl, a collaborative sculpture made for the NAIDOC theme, 
‘Because of her, we can.’ The architectural mural celebrates 
the role of family and women, using animals indigenous to the 
Goulburn and Murray River region. 
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Student Showcase Day at Seymour
The GOTAFE Youth Engagement Team co-ordinated 
and ran the first Student Showcase Day at the Seymour 
campus in collaboration with Berry Street Victoria. 
Student Showcase Day allowed secondary students to 
participate in several interactive and practical workshops 
and almost 70 students from Broadford Secondary 
College, Seymour College, St Mary’s College Seymour 
and Seymour Flexible Learning Centre attended.

In total, 14 workshops were available to choose from, 
exposing students to industries including building 
& construction, hospitality, child care and game 
development. The day began with a brief presentation 
about VET studies and the possible pathways that 
students could take after completing a VET course during 
their senior school years and concluded with a Q&A panel 
presentation.

Dookie Wine Show
In the hallmark event of the year for hospitality, the 
Dookie Wine Show saw students and trainers working 
together to deliver a five-course menu to more than 200 
guests. The courses were paired with award-winning 
wines from the wine show.

Facilities and Assets
New era for GOTAFE building and construction 
industry students in Shepparton
Trainers and students in the building and construction, 
cabinetmaking, joinery and glazing sectors transferred 
into GOTAFE’s new state-of-the-art campus in Archer 
Street, Shepparton, in August 2018 The Goulburn 
Murray Trades Skills Centre, co-funded by the Federal 
Government, comprises classrooms, computer labs, 
a workshop, tool bays and office accommodation, 
and features full visibility of the extensive workshop 
throughout the building.

Students are able to undertake a number of skills-based 
activities both inside and outside the building, and there is 
scope to expand delivery in the future.

The building was an initiative of the Better Together 
Alliance comprising of GOTAFE and the region’s four 
public secondary schools, McGuire College, Shepparton 
High School, Wanganui Park Secondary College and 
Mooroopna Secondary College.

Seymour Campus Upgrade Funding
In October, the Hon. Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for 
Training and Skills and Minister for Higher Education, 
announced that a re-elected Labor Government would 
invest $2.54 million into a project to deliver a new facility 
for health and community services training at GOTAFE’s 
Seymour campus.

The project will establish multi-purpose integrated 
teaching facilities and flexible learning spaces with 
interactive technology and e-learning, aimed at 
supporting local students and increasing student numbers 
in key areas of skill shortage in the region.

The state-of-the-art learning spaces will support GOTAFE 
to partner with industry and universities to further develop 
educational pathways and programs to launch further 
training within the community.

The upgrade will also include student amenities and staff 
offices.

The Minister was accompanied on her visit to Seymour 
by the Member for Northern Victoria, Jaclyn Symes, and 
the then-Labor candidate for Euroa, Fionna Deppeler-
Morton.

Student Experience
Student Recognition Ceremonies
In March, GOTAFE celebrated the success of students 
graduating from its campuses at Student Recognition 
Ceremonies. The events recognised students who 
successfully completed their studies in 2017.

Outstanding Student Awards were presented to:

• David Barkley – BSB51415 Diploma of Project 
Management

• Eden Broz – HLT51612 Diploma of Nursing (Enrolled - 
Division 2 Nursing)

• Brooke Boulton - CHC33015 Certificate III in Individual 
Support

• Elif Coskun – HLT51612 Diploma of Nursing (Enrolled - 
Division 2 Nursing)

• Saskia Gargan - HLT51612 Diploma of Nursing 
(Enrolled - Division 2 Nursing)

• Adam Glasson – BSB51915 Diploma of Leadership 
and Management

• Maddison Grey - HLT51612 Diploma of Nursing 
(Enrolled - Division 2 Nursing)

A GOTAFE hospitality student working at the Dookie Wine Show. 
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Victorian Training Awards
School-based trainee Sophie Babycz was crowned a 
winner at the Victorian Training Awards gala ceremony in 
Melbourne.

Sophie studied BSB30115 Certificate III in Business with 
GOTAFE trainer Julie McHenry. Sophie described the 
experience of doing a school-based apprenticeship with 
Wallan Neighbourhood House as extremely rewarding 
and said the business skills she had attained would serve 
her well in a changing world.

Sophie said the program had helped her develop strong 
communication skills, and being given the responsibility 
of report writing, assisting with promotional material, and 
providing customer support has confirmed her ambition 
to work in the business field.

Engineering Apprentice and 2017 GOTAFE Apprentice 
of the Year Matthew Shipard narrowly missed out on 
the Apprentice of the Year and People’s Choice titles. 
This was the second successive year the GOTAFE 
engineering department had finalists in the Apprentice of 
the Year category.

Case Study – Matthew Shipard
Engineering apprentice Matthew Shipard has had a stellar 
start to his career – and he credits GOTAFE for helping 
him attain a broad range of skills.

Matthew, who won GOTAFE’s 2017 Apprentice of the Year 
award for Wangaratta and Benalla campuses, completed 
pre-apprenticeships in both automotive and engineering 
when he was just 15.

During Year 12 he worked as a shearer, before starting 
work at Nestle and studying a certificate in fitting and 
turning at GOTAFE.

He “fast tracked” that certificate in two-and-a-half years 
at night school and completed his second qualification, a 
Certificate III in Engineering – Fabrication Trade, in less 
than 12 months.

“GOTAFE has taught me a lot about fabrication and 
turning, both theory and practical. I now have a broad 
range of skills in fitting and machining,” said Matthew.

GOTAFE trainer Greg Keane described Matthew as an 
extraordinary student. “Matthew is focussed and has a 
willingness to succeed that I haven’t seen in a student for 
a very long time. He has an unwavering desire to get work 
done,” said Greg.

“Whatever Matthew does I am sure he will succeed.”

Matthew plans to one day set up his own business and 
continue working on the family farm in Brocklesby, NSW.

WorldSkills Victoria representatives
From July to October, regional WorldSkills competitions 
were held at GOTAFE’s Shepparton and Wangaratta 
campuses across a variety of fields including including 
building and construction, automotive, plumbing, retail 
baking bread, retail baking pastry, hairdressing and 
beauty therapy.

Twelve regional gold medallists from GOTAFE 
successfully completed the selection process for the 
National Championships and joined the 86-strong team 
representing Victoria on the national stage.

Held in Darling Harbour, Sydney, the WorldSkills National 
Championships saw 500 competitors aged 16-24 years 
competing in 60 trade and skills areas. With over 20,000 
spectators, 300 judges, 120 volunteers and $10 million 
worth of materials and equipment, competitors battled it 
out with the nation’s best tradies.

GOTAFE students Mark Williams, Hannah Wilson, Kyla 
Wagner and Ethan Cootes were among those presented 
with national medals.

Mark, who had his apprenticeship signed off 16 months 
early, is employed at Mick Hogan Excavations in 
Numurkah. Mark was awarded the bronze medal for 
heavy vehicle mechanics, positioning him as the best 
apprentice in Victoria and third overall in Australia.

Hannah of Bright Eyes Hairdressing and Day Spa 
in Shepparton took home the bronze medal for 
hairdressing, an outstanding achievement for a second 
year apprentice.

Kyla and Ethan both were awarded bronze medals for 
baking.

Report of Operations   |    11
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GOTAFE Trade Awards
GOTAFE’s Trade Awards were held in December to 
recognise the achievements of apprentice students.

The awards were attended by apprentices, their 
employers, business owners, families and friends.

Awards were presented to apprentices in the first, 
second, third or fourth years from automotive, building 
and construction, electrical, engineering, hair & beauty, 
hospitality, baking and plumbing.

This year, Paul de Gelder was the special guest speaker. 
Paul spoke to guests about his life journey that led him to 
a career as a navy diver, how he survived a shark attack 
in Sydney Harbour where he lost an arm and a leg, and 
how he now travels the world as a motivational speaker, 
passionate environmentalist, adventurer and mentor to 
school students.

Kyla Wagner, a baking apprentice working with 
Beechworth Bakery in Echuca, was announced as 
GOTAFE’s 2018 Apprentice of the Year for the Seymour 
and Shepparton campuses.

Jessica Plum from Badaginnie was announced as 
GOTAFE’s 2018 Apprentice of the Year for the Benalla and 
Wangaratta campuses. Jessica, a hospitality apprentice, is 
working with Benalla Gallery Café.

Building apprentice Patrick Bourke won the employer-
nominated section of the Master Builder’s North East 
Section Apprentice of the Year Awards.

Case Study – Christa Wethers
Not knowing what she wanted to do when she left 
school, Christa Wethers took the advice of her parents 
and studied a (HLT61107) Advanced Diploma of Nursing 
at GOTAFE.

“I had never been really good at school,” said Christa. “I 
enjoyed studying my Diploma, began my nursing career 
in 2003 and I have never looked back. I love nursing.”

Christa found the GOTAFE courses and trainers very 
flexible.

Whilst studying towards her (HLT61107) Advanced 
Diploma of Nursing, she had a few gap years and started 
a family. When her son turned three, Christa began 
studying again, picking and choosing the subjects and 
working through them at her own pace.

“The trainers are really good,” said Christa. “A lot of them 
work in the nursing sector so it is real life people you are 
learning off.”

Christa completed her Advanced Diploma of Nursing with 
GOTAFE, and praised the pathway that provided to her 
studying for a Bachelor of Nursing at university.

Christa’s nursing career has taken her to Melbourne and 
London, and she has spent more than a decade working 
at the Mansfield District Hospital Bindaree Retirement 
Centre.

“I think in nursing you are constantly learning as practice 
is always constantly changing and progressing,” said 
Christa.

“I love learning and I love seeing the changes.”

EOI Excellence in Baking Competition
GOTAFE hosted the Victorian EOI Excellence in Baking 
Competition, with five GOTAFE apprentices competing 
in the Baking and Pastry Apprentice of the Year bake-off 
competitions. GOTAFE baking apprentice Ethan Cootes, 
from Beechworth Bakery in Echuca, took out first place in 
the bread bakeoff.

Ethan went on to compete in the National Competition in 
Brisbane where he placed fourth overall.

VET in Schools (VETiS) Hospitality Celebration 
Dinner
GOTAFE hospitality staff from the Seymour Campus, 
friends and families came together to celebrate the 
successes of GOTAFE’s 2018 VETiS hospitality students. 
The VETiS hospitality program has been running at the 
Seymour campus for nine years and is currently led by 
GOTAFE trainers Jodi Rechsteiner-Sanders and Jayson 
Sanders.

Hospitality students attend classes over a period of two 
years and the 2018 cohort included students from Yea 
Secondary College, Seymour College, Wallan Secondary 
College, Seymour Flexible Learning Centre and GOTAFE’s 
own VCAL students.

Trainers and students worked alongside each other to 
deliver a superb dinner to guests, allowing the students the 
opportunity to showcase their talents and skills.
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Margaret Noble Nursing Scholarship
Kurt Vigil was the recipient of the 2018 Margaret 
Noble Nursing Scholarship. Kurt, who is undertaking 
a Diploma of Nursing at GOTAFE, was thrilled to be 
chosen. Kurt, his father and older sister arrived from the 
Philippines to live in Australia just six years ago.

Open Days
Open Days were held for the first time in several years 
at our Wangaratta, Benalla, Seymour, Shepparton 
and Werribee campuses. They provided prospective 
students with the opportunity to discover the breadth of 
available training opportunities.

VET in Schools Outstanding Student
Tesha Davern was awarded the GOTAFE 2018 VET In 
Schools Student of the Year. Tesha, a secondary school 
student at Wangaratta High School, studies Certificate III in 
Beauty Services at GOTAFE’s Technical Education Centre. 
She was presented with the award for her commitment to 
the program, her incredible passion for the industry and her 
qualities of resilience and persistence during her studies.

Case Study - Bailey Cooper
After starting his training as a carpenter it didn’t take Bailey 
Cooper long to realise he was on the wrong path.

“It just wasn’t me. I didn’t get into it,” said Bailey. “I’d always 
had a passion for cooking, so I did back of house while I 
was in Year 12.”

Bailey then decided to study “front of house” at GOTAFE 
“so I’m good in all of the areas”.

He said his Certificate III in Travel, Tourism, Event 
Management and Front of House Hospitality would provide 
him with “a lot of opportunities”.

“After this I want to do my Certificate IV, just keep studying 
so I can get my qualification,” he said.

“What I really want to do is work on a cruise ship, just 
getting out, travelling and seeing the world.”

Bailey, who has an Indigenous background, is also keen to 
use the tourism units as a springboard to being a tour guide 
in the area.

On an excursion to Melbourne, Bailey’s class joined an 
Aboriginal walking tour and Bailey said: “I got really involved 
with that because it’s something I want to do.”

Staff Development
In September GOTAFE staff took the opportunity 
to develop and hone their skills at the annual Staff 
Development Day.

A team building activity, completing challenges and 
building bikes for underprivileged children provided an 
opportunity to collaborate with staff members from across 
all campuses. A total of 45 bikes were built on the day as 
a part of the activity, with 50 bikes in total being donated 
to the two charities of Wheelie Awesome and Edspace.

Overall the day was considered to be a very thought 
provoking and motivational day, and complemented the 
change program underway at GOTAFE.

Staff Recognition
A number of GOTAFE staff were recognised for their 
outstanding achievements and contributions at an annual 
staff achievement awards ceremony held in December.

Report of Operations   |    13
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Eva Ponting wins the 2018 Wurreker Awards
Art and design staff member Eva Ponting was successful 
in winning a 2018 Wurreker Award. These awards 
annually recognise students, trainers, training providers 
and employers who have achieved outstanding results in 
their area of knowledge and expertise in the VET sector. 
These individual and collective efforts provide an inspiring 
example of the potential within Aboriginal communities.

Eva’s journey has seen her progress from GOTAFE 
student to GOTAFE trainer. After completing Certificate II 
and III in Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander Cultural Arts, 
Eva continued to develop her skills and knowledge in this 
creative field with Certificate IV in Design. Her passion for 
cultural arts and learning motivated her to take steps to 
become a teacher in her own right.

Eva’s experience has led her to modify training and 
delivery methods to provide the best possible outcomes 
for students. Eva has also introduced the weaving 
element into the GOTAFE Cultural Arts Program and 
is providing a greater student experience for other 
indigenous students participating in mainstream 
study.

Stakeholder Engagement
GOTAFE Stakeholder Business Breakfasts
Key stakeholders from state government, local 
government, business and industry were invited to 
GOTAFE Stakeholder Breakfasts in Shepparton and 
Wangaratta. These events were a new forum to share 
GOTAFE’s vision for the future, strategic plan, and new 
approach to stakeholder engagement, and to identify new 
opportunities in the region.

The breakfasts were also an opportunity to hear from 
Richmond footballer Alex Rance, a partner with GOTAFE 
through The Academy. Off field, Alex looks to inspire 
the next generation to realise their goals. He and 
his business partner, Luke Surace, have started The 
Academy to cater for Year 11 and Year 12 students. It is 
based on teaching real-world skills and keeping students 
engaged in their schooling by following their passions. 
GOTAFE collaborates with The Academy to deliver 
accredited vocational education programs.

GOTAFE Stakeholder Breakfasts are planned for Benalla 
and Seymour in 2019.

Youth Opportunity Landscape Forum
Eighty youth services representatives visited GOTAFE’s 
Fryers Street campus in July to discuss opportunities for 
supporting young people in the Goulburn Valley.

The forum included mapping the inspiring work already 
underway in the Goulburn Valley and brainstorming 
what’s working, what’s missing and how services can 
work together. The forum included presentations from the 
Brotherhood of St Laurence and MOAT Mental Health 
Services, and a student panel discussing how they had 
re-engaged with education.

LGBTIQ+ best practice forum
As a part of OUTintheOPEN Festival, the Diversity 
Project hosted a forum at GOTAFE on LGBTIQA+ Best 
Practice for service providers and professionals in the 
region.

The forum covered best practice guidelines for workers 
with LGBTIQA+ clients with a focus on CALD cohorts and 
victims/survivors of family violence. Attendees were given 
an opportunity to ask questions anonymously in a “you 
can’t ask that” style session.

GVFL sponsorship
During the year GOTAFE renewed its partnership as 
major and naming rights sponsor of the Goulburn Valley 
Football League for four more years.

Football and netball clubs are the backbone of many 
regional communities. GOTAFE has an active interest in 
the league with many of its apprentices, students, staff 
members and graduates loyal members of clubs in the 
league. This partnership allows GOTAFE to communicate 
with a broad section of the local community.

The Big Chop
GOTAFE and Wanganui Park Secondary College teamed 
up with Sustainable Salons and the Variety Children’s 
Charity for a great cause. GOTAFE hairdressing 
trainer Rosa Mandaradoni led the team of hairdressing 
students as they chopped off 25 ponytails. Students 
from Wanganui Park Secondary College made the brave 
decision to donate their hair to be made into wigs for 
children who suffer from alopecia and cancer.

Delegates from Brazil
A group of Brazilian delegates toured GOTAFE’s 
Shepparton campuses in October. The delegation, 
consisting of nine vocational institute rectors, the 
equivalent to CEOs, visited Shepparton to learn how 
GOTAFE delivers vocational education and training, 
specifically curriculum design, teacher training and youth 
engagement. The delegation toured GOTAFE’s Skills and 
Jobs Centre, the Shepparton Education First Youth Foyer 
and the newly-opened Goulburn Murray Trades Skills 
Centre.

The delegation was part of a larger group from the 
National Council for the Federal Network of Vocational, 
Scientific and Technological Education Institutions. The 
delegation was in Australia for the World Federation of 
Colleges and Polytechnics Congress held in Melbourne.

Indian dairy study tour
GOTAFE welcomed a delegation of dairy representatives 
from India early in the year after securing a contract 
to deliver the study tour with the National Dairy 
Development Board (NDDB). The delegation was drawn 
from representatives of all dairy producing states across 
India and consisted of representatives from dairy co-
operatives, dairy manufacturers and NDDB extension 
officers.

The study tour visited dairy farms selected for their 
specialty area of excellence. The tour also visited 
DataGene at La Trobe University, Tatura Milk, dairy farms 
around Shepparton, the Riverina, Kiewa Valley and the 
Western District, as well as GOTAFE’s Werribee Pilot 
Factory and Shepparton campuses.
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Strategic Plan 2018-2023
In 2018 the Board developed a 2018-2023 Strategic Plan. 
The plan sets four strategic goals for GOTAFE:
• Deliver excellence in education
• Optimise the student experience through efficient and 

productive operations
• Develop and foster meaningful partnerships with 

government, industry and other stakeholders
• Strategically diversify and maximise revenue.
Under these goals sit eight pillars that guide the 
strategic focus for the organisation: Governance, 
Education, Student, Finance, Workforce, ICT, Assets and 
Stakeholder Engagement.

Organisational Capability Assessment
In August, GOTAFE commissioned an Organisational 
Capability Assessment to assist in determining how well 
the organisation was placed to respond to its current and 
future challenges and opportunities.
GOTAFE engaged KPMG to undertake the review which 
assessed GOTAFE’s capability, based on the Department 
of Education and Training’s TAFE Capability Framework. 
The review included a comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement program with staff, students, partners and 
industry. A number of findings were identified relating 
to changes to the organisational model and structure, 
along with 23 recommendations relating to improving 
GOTAFE’s approach to student experience, education 
design and quality, student acquisition and retention and 
staff experience.
The review was completed by December for 
implementation during 2019.

New Training Partnerships
• Westgate Tunnel Project

A partnership with LS Pre-Cast in Benalla to launch the 
Westgate Tunnel Project will see GOTAFE commence 
delivery of Certificate III in Concreting in 2019, 
providing opportunities for 250 to 300 new jobs.

• Shepparton Villages
GOTAFE and Shepparton Villages have collaborated 
to offer training in Aged Care to the Goulburn Valley. 
The training will be delivered onsite at Shepparton 
Villages. Certificate III in Individual Support students 
will be exposed to two days per week of training over 
nine months.
Students who demonstrate excellence in their training 
after the first 12 weeks will be offered employment at 
Shepparton Villages, allowing them to work as they 
train.

Free TAFE Priority Courses
Fifty courses, including fifteen new courses, are 
being offered in 2019 through the Victorian Government’s 
Free TAFE Priority Courses initiative. Strong demand, 
particularly in the health, community services and trades 
courses, will see increased enrolments for 2019.

Introduction to the NDIS
The National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) is being 
introduced by region in Victoria and will be rolled out in the 
Goulburn region from 1 January 2019.
To ensure new entrants to the disability workforce are 
adequately skilled and have an appropriate understanding 
of the NDIS, 22469VIC Course in Introduction to 
the National Disability Insurance Scheme has been 
developed. This is a TAFE Victoria-driven initiative.
This short course also serves as a potential stepping 
stone to further study for students in five of the Free TAFE 
Priority Courses in 2019:
• Certificate IV in Allied Health Assistance (HLT40315)
• Certificate III in Community Services (CHC32015)
• Certificate IV in Disability (CHC43115)
• Certificate III in Individual Support (CHC43115)
• Certificate IV in Mental Health (CHC43315).

Strategic Priorities
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Summary of key financial results
A summary of key financial results of GOTAFE for 2018 with comparative results for the previous four years appears in 
the following table:

Financial indicator 2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Operating Revenue
(Income from transactions, including capital 
contributions)

 56,271  63,135 58,744  57,433  61,195 

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
(Net result from transactions, including capital 
contributions)

 100 2,319 2,132 (1,047) (10,930) 

Liquidity Ratio
(Current Assets/ Current Liabilities adjusted to 
exclude long-term benefits)

5.10:1 5.20:1 7.50:1 6.17:1 5.81:1

EBITDA (Earnings before interest expense, 
tax, depreciation and amortisation)
(excludes capital contributions)

4,921 6,837 6,734 2,629 (6,804)

Total Assets 143,859 142,917 134,957 124,993 126,310

Total Liabilities 15,327 14,213 11,230 10,827 10,440

Summary of key non-financial results
A summary of key training activity results for 2018 appears in the following table:

Classification 2018 result

Students (head count) 9,533

Student Admissions (course enrolments) 10,611

Student Contact Hours (delivered) 3,145,995

2018 Objectives, Key Performance 
Indicators and Achievements
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In our opinion, the accompanying Statement of Performance of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of Technical and Further 
Education for the year ended 31 December 2018, is presented fairly.

The Statement outlines the performance indicators as determined by the responsible Minister, predetermined targets and 
the actual results for the year against these indicators, and an explanation of any significant variance between the actual 
results and performance targets.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars included in the Statement 
to be misleading or inaccurate.

Statement of Performance
Statement of Performance for the year ended 31 December 2018

Statement of Performance 
 

Statement of Performance for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying Statement of Performance of the Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of Technical and Further Education for the year ended 31 December 2018, is presented 
fairly. 

The Statement outlines the performance indicators as determined by the responsible 
Minister, pre-determined targets and the actual results for the year against these indicators, 
and an explanation of any significant variance between the actual results and performance 
targets. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any 
particulars included in the Statement to be misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

 

 
 

Chair of the Board Chief Executive Officer Chief Finance & Accounting 
Officer 

Joanne Dwyer Travis Heeney Peter Ladd 

Shepparton Shepparton Shepparton 
Date: 12 March 2019 Date: 12 March 2019 Date: 12 March 2019 
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Key Performance Indicators
Statement of Performance for the year ended 31 December 2018:

Key Performance Indicator Definition Metric 2018 
Target

2018
Actual Explanation of variances 2017

Actual

Training revenue diversity Breakdown of training revenue split by: Percentage

• Victorian Training Guarantee (VTG) 62.4% 58.93% The positive variance to target is due to lower FFS for 2018 due to the changes in the 
arrangements in Diploma course are recognised in the Higher Education sector. 57.3%

• Fee for Service (FFS) 21.7% 20.87% Fee for Service is below target due to a significant project in this space not proceeding. 28.8%

• Student fees and charges 15.9% 20.2% Student’s fees and charges are at a higher rate due to a fee review. 13.9%

Employment costs as a proportion of 
training revenue

Employment and Third Party training delivery costs 
as a proportion of training revenue.

(Employment costs – Workforce reduction
expenses + Third Party training delivery costs) / 
Training Revenue

Percentage 117.4% 134.64% An increase in employment cost as a proportion of training revenue due to lower 
training revenue compared to 2018 target. Several changes in executive level structure 
increased salary cost due to payout of employees.

110.5%

Training revenue per teaching FTE Training revenue (excl. revenue delivered by
third parties) per teaching FTE
Training Revenue (excl. revenue delivered by 3rd 
parties) / Teaching FTEs

Dollars 136,474.74 103,394.25 The variance to target is due to training revenue being lower than targeted and a partial 
increase in salary costs.

111,196.00

Operating margin percentage Operating margin %
EBIT (excl. capital
contributions) / Total
revenue (excl. capital
contributions)

Percentage (21%) 0.17% The positive variance is due to lower other expenses than target and funding support 
from the Victorian Government.

3.2%

*This is a requirement of the Higher Education and Skills Group (HESG) funding contract to report every quarter if the Institute is + or 
- 10% to budget/forecast
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Key Performance Indicator Definition Metric 2018 
Target

2018
Actual Explanation of variances 2017

Actual

Training revenue diversity Breakdown of training revenue split by: Percentage

• Victorian Training Guarantee (VTG) 62.4% 58.93% The positive variance to target is due to lower FFS for 2018 due to the changes in the 
arrangements in Diploma course are recognised in the Higher Education sector. 57.3%

• Fee for Service (FFS) 21.7% 20.87% Fee for Service is below target due to a significant project in this space not proceeding. 28.8%

• Student fees and charges 15.9% 20.2% Student’s fees and charges are at a higher rate due to a fee review. 13.9%

Employment costs as a proportion of 
training revenue

Employment and Third Party training delivery costs 
as a proportion of training revenue.

(Employment costs – Workforce reduction
expenses + Third Party training delivery costs) / 
Training Revenue

Percentage 117.4% 134.64% An increase in employment cost as a proportion of training revenue due to lower 
training revenue compared to 2018 target. Several changes in executive level structure 
increased salary cost due to payout of employees.

110.5%

Training revenue per teaching FTE Training revenue (excl. revenue delivered by
third parties) per teaching FTE
Training Revenue (excl. revenue delivered by 3rd 
parties) / Teaching FTEs

Dollars 136,474.74 103,394.25 The variance to target is due to training revenue being lower than targeted and a partial 
increase in salary costs.

111,196.00

Operating margin percentage Operating margin %
EBIT (excl. capital
contributions) / Total
revenue (excl. capital
contributions)

Percentage (21%) 0.17% The positive variance is due to lower other expenses than target and funding support 
from the Victorian Government.

3.2%

*This is a requirement of the Higher Education and Skills Group (HESG) funding contract to report every quarter if the Institute is + or 
- 10% to budget/forecast
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Governance and Organisational Structure
GOTAFE Board
As at 31 December 2018, the Board’s membership comprises six Ministerial directors, one co-opted director (and two 
vacant), the Chief Executive Officer and a staff elected director. Board directors come from a range of backgrounds and 
have a variety of skills to provide GOTAFE with the skills necessary for quality leadership and good governance.
As part of their general duties, the Board must: 
1. take all reasonable steps for the advancement of the objectives of the Institute and the board under the Act and this 

Constitution;
2. operate in accordance with the economic and social objectives and public sector management policy established 

from time to time by the Government of Victoria;
3. meet at intervals prescribed in the GOTAFE Constitution;
4. provide all assistance and information as the Minister, the Secretary or the Deputy Secretary may reasonably require 

from the Board; and
5. ensure the safe custody and proper use of the common seal of the Institute.

The Board representation in the 2018 calendar year appears in the following table:

Member Director category
Term

From To

Joanne Dwyer
(Board Chair) Ministerial 01/07/2016 30/06/2019

Christine Riches Ministerial 01/07/2016 30/06/2019

Angela Verde Ministerial 01/07/2016 30/06/2019

Fiona Lloyd Ministerial 15/12/2017 30/06/2020

Dean Walton Ministerial 15/12/2017 30/06/2020

Dr Christine Cunningham Ministerial 01/07/2016 30/06/2018

Ro Allen Ministerial 01/07/2016 30/06/2021

Mark O’Sullivan Co-opted Director 22/08/2016 30/06/2019

Rod Schubert Co-opted Director 24/10/2016 30/06/2018

Vacant Co-opted Director - -

Vacant Co-opted Director - -

Paul Culpan CEO 01/07/2016 02/03/2018

Jennifer Oliver Interim CEO 26/02/2018 22/05/2018

Travis Heeney CEO 02/07/2018 01/07/2023

Suellen Loki Staff Elected Director 01/07/2018 30/06/2019

Jenny Jackson Staff Elected Director 01/07/2016 30/06/2018
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Board Sub-Committees
In the early part of 2018 the Board established a number of Sub-Committees to provide
additional oversight, including Education, Stakeholder Development, Infrastructure and Investment. Later in the year 
the Board consolidated its Committee structure and established a new Governance Sub-Committee. The changes 
to the Committee structure aim to provide a focused governance oversight for the Board. The Board also revised the 
membership of the Committees and commenced work to review and refresh the Terms of Reference for each Committee.
As at the end of 2018, the following Sub-Committees were in place:
• Audit and Risk – Chair: Mark O’Sullivan

• Remuneration – Chair: Angela Verde

• Governance – Chair: Ro Allen

Board Sub-Committee Membership (1 January 2018- 30 September 2018)

Workforce and 
Culture Audit and Risk Education

Strategy and 
Stakeholder 
Development

Infrastructure and
Investment Remuneration

Chair: Mark
O’Sullivan
Angela Verde
Joanne Dwyer
Christine
Cunningham (to
30/6/18)
Jennifer Oliver
(to 22/5/18)

Chair: Mark 
O’Sullivan
Joanne Dwyer
Christine Riches
Dean Walton
Fiona Lloyd
Angela Verde
Rod Schubert (to
30/6/18)
Jenny Jackson (to
30/6/18)
Christine 
Cunningham
(to 30/6/18)
Jennifer Oliver/Paul
Culpan (to 22/5/18)
Robert Faulkner (to
25/7/18)

Chair: Christine
Riches
Jenny Jackson
(to 30/6/18)
Fiona Lloyd
Rod Schubert (to 
30/6/18)
Margie Fixter (to 
10/7/18)
Robyn Farley
Robert Faulkner
(to 25/7/18)

Chair: Angela
Verde
Christine Riches
Christine
Cunningham (to
30/6/18)
Paul Culpan (to
2/3/18)
Travis Heeney
(from 2/7/18)

Dean Walton
Christine
Cunningham (to
30/6/18)
Joanne Dwyer
Travis Heeney

Chair: Mark
O’Sullivan
Angela Verde
Joanne Dwyer

Board Sub-Committee Membership (1 October 2018 – 31 December 2018)

Audit and Risk Governance Remuneration

Chair: Mark O’Sullivan
Joanne Dwyer
Christine Riches
Dean Walton
Travis Heeney

Chair: Ro Allen
Joanne Dwyer
Fiona Lloyd
Angela Verde
Suellen Loki
Travis Heeney

Chair: Angela Verde
Mark O’Sullivan
Joanne Dwyer
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Joanne Dwyer
A Director since 2013, Joanne is a Certified Practising Accountant and has a Bachelor of 
Commerce degree. Joanne is an independent consultant with extensive experience across each 
of the private, public and not-for-profit sectors. A current member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and CPA Australia, Joanne has held a number of directorships in regional 
Victoria, and her expertise lies in business project management and strategic planning.

Joanne was appointed as Board Chair in July 2017.

Christine Riches
MBA qualified and with Diplomas of Training and Education, Christine has held senior roles across 
various disciplines and organisations. Her experience in north-east Victoria includes workforce 
planning with small and medium-sized enterprises and leading a community based Registered 
Training Organisation. An experienced Board member, Christine specialises in strategic planning, 
organisational development and business review, and is also a skilled trainer and course developer 
in leadership and business.

Angela Verde
Angela has over 20 years of experience working regionally in senior and Regional Director level 
roles across multiple government departments and the not for profit sector. She has played 
an integral role in facilitating a broad range of regional economic, planning and community 
development outcomes within the Hume region and has been instrumental in leading the 
development of integrated regional strategic plans.
With a strong record of achievement in facilitating change, leading teams, delivering regional 
programs and building sustainable partnerships, Angela brings to GOTAFE an enduring passion 
and commitment to improving outcomes for people in regional communities.
Angela holds a Bachelor of Applied Science and Diploma in Business Management and is also a 
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Board members’ expertise
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Mark O’Sullivan
Mark has had over 25 years’ executive level leadership experience, including as former Chief 
Executive Officer of the Royal Agricultural Society of Victoria Ltd, a position he held for 11 years. 
Prior to that, Mark spent 24 years in various roles within the Victorian Thoroughbred Racing 
Industry, including 12 years as CEO of Country Racing Victoria Ltd.
Mark is currently chair of the Board of Spring Valley Golf Club, and a member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. Mark holds a Bachelor of Business and Graduate Diploma in 
Entrepreneurial Studies and recently completed an Advanced Management Program at INSEAD 
(Singapore).

Fiona Lloyd
Fiona is the Communications Manager at the Goulburn Broken Catchment Management 
Authority and holds a Bachelor of Arts (Teaching) and a Graduate Diploma in Journalism.
Based in Bunbartha, Fiona has extensive experience in marketing and journalism in 
the Goulburn Murray region. Her current role sees her develop, implement and monitor 
communication strategies, work collaboratively with government agencies, community and 
landholder groups and participate in the senior management of the Catchment Management 
Authority.

Dean Walton
Dean has held roles including the Executive Manager of Positive Ageing & Disability Services at 
Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative, where he managed a 30 bed Elders facility, homecare and 
mental health disability programs across four regions in Victoria and New South Wales.
Dean is the coach for Shepparton United under 18’s Youth Girls’ Football team and Secretary of 
the Old Students Cricket Club in Shepparton.
Dean is currently studying the Advanced Diploma of Leadership and Management and holds 
numerous diplomas and certificates in Community Services, Management and Aged Care. Prior 
to his management roles, Dean was an Enrolled Nurse for over a decade.

Board members’ expertise
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Ro Allen
Ro is the current Victorian Commissioner for Gender and Sexuality. Ro is a former CEO 
of UnitingCare in the Goulburn Valley and former Hume Regional Skills Coordinator for 
the Department of Education.
Ro has also held the positions of Chair of the Victorian Adult, Community and Further 
Education Board, the Victorian Skills Commission, the Youth Affairs Council of Victoria 
(YACVIC), and former member of the Hume Regional Development Australia Committee. 
Ro has been recognised for extensive community service: in 2003 Ro received a 
Centenary Medal and in 2009 was inducted into the Victorian Government Honour Roll 
for Women. Recently Ro was recognised in the Top 50 Public Sector Women (Victoria) 
2017 and won Hero of the Year in the 2017 Australian LGBTI Awards.

Travis Heeney
Travis Heeney is a tertiary qualified, results driven executive with strong business, 
political and financial acumen. He is a transformational leader with natural enthusiasm for 
innovation, in depth knowledge and awareness of regulatory obligations, and the ability 
to facilitate significantly improved community focused outcomes. He has specific skills in 
strategic positioning and in resolving organisational challenges and driving operational 
improvement.
Travis has significant experience in community focused organisations, having held 
leadership positions in public health, not for profit and local government. Most recently, 
Travis has held executive positions in local government at both Director and CEO level.
Travis completed the Company Director’s Course at the Australian Institute for Company 
Directors, and is an active member of Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
various peak bodies.
Travis was appointed GOTAFE CEO in June 2018.

Suellen Loki
Suellen joined the VET sector 15 years ago after a successful Retail Management career 
in Sydney.
Suellen’s educational qualifications include; Master of Education, Graduate Diploma in 
Vocational Education and Training, Graduate Certificate in Tertiary Teaching, TAE50211 
Diploma of Training Design and Development, TAE50116 Diploma of Vocational 
Education and Training and the TAE40116 Certificate IV in Training and Assessment, as 
well as qualifications in retail and business management.
The primary focus in her role at GOTAFE is to transition industry experts through training, 
support and mentoring, to perform as valuable VET practitioners at GOTAFE.
Suellen joined the Board as the staff elected Director in July 2018.

Board members’ expertise
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Organisational Structure

Executive Manager
Education Operations

Louise Pearce

Executive Manager
Business Services/CFO

Peter Ladd

Chief Executive Officer
Travis Heeney

Board of Directors

Executive Manager
Business Transformation

Kellie Vise

 ෙ Brett Ambrosio
Automotive, Engineering, 
Art & Design

 ෙ Andrew McGranahan
Building, Plumbing & 
Electrotechnology

 ෙ Jo Craig
Business & Information 
Technology/TAE

 ෙ Darren Payne
Food/ Dairy Processing, 
Agriculture

 ෙ Ross Graham
Hair & Beauty, Hospitality, 
Events, Tourism & Baking

 ෙ Helen Ryan
Health & Community 
Services, Sport & Rec

 ෙ Robyn Saunders
Horticulture, Animal 
Sciences, Equine & Vet 
Tech

 ෙ Natasha McCormick
Vocational Pathways, 
Koorie, Learning Skills, 
Multicultural

Executive Manager
Strategy & Comm. 

Development
Paul Nettelbeck

11 Directors:
 ෙ 6 Ministerial Directors
 ෙ 3 Co-opted Directors (2 positions vacant)
 ෙ CEO
 ෙ 1 staff elected Director

Executive Manager
Human Resources

Sarah Noel

 ෙ Celia Turnbull
Education Design & 
Quality

 ෙ Kath White
International & Higher 
Education

 ෙ Andrew Lovett
Project Support Office

 ෙ Peter Watson
Quality & Sustainability

 ෙ Sarah Harman
Client Service Centre

 ෙ Anne Ritter
Library Services

 ෙ Larissa Falla
Marketing & Creative 
Services

 ෙ x 4 Roles
Partnership Engagement

 ෙ Kim Michelini
Reconnect

 ෙ Simone Masters
Skills & Jobs

 ෙ Jon Lee
VET in Schools

 ෙ Callum Ross
Worldskills

 ෙ Claire Grellman
Youth & Engagement

 ෙ Neil Conrick
Assets

 ෙ Albert Armadei
Business Intelligence

 ෙ Rita Ruyters
Financial Services

 ෙ Kumar Santhakumar
Information 
Communication 
Technology

 ෙ Karryn Goode
Registrar

 ෙ Janelle Osborne
Human Resources

 ෙ Jenny Jackson
Education Capability

 ෙ Joanna Foulkes
Safety & Wellbeing

 ෙ Michael Loscavo
Student Welfare
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Workforce Information
Workforce Data

Workforce disclosures

2018 December 
All Employees Ongoing Fixed Term and Casual

Number 
(headcount)

FTE Full time 
(headcount)

Part time 
(headcount)

FTE Number 
(headcount)

FTE

Gender

Women exec 3 3.0 3 3.0

Women 377 278.1 121 65 164.3 191 113.8

Men exec 3 3.0 3 3.0

Men 208 155.0 97 11 103.7 100 51.3

Self described - - - - - - -

Age

Under 25 21 11.1 5 5.0 16 6.1

25-34 76 54.7 17 7 21.5 52 33.3

35-44 115 84.2 36 18 48.4 61 35.8

45-54 180 142.3 79 20 93.1 81 49.2

55-64 164 124.7 73 20 85.6 71 39.1

Over 64 35 22.1 8 11 14.5 16 7.6

Total Emps 591 439.1 218 76 268.1 297 171.1

2017 December 
All Employees Ongoing Fixed Term and Casual

Number 
(headcount)

FTE Full time 
(headcount)

Part time 
(headcount)

FTE Number 
(headcount)

FTE

Gender

Women exec 3 3.0 3 3.0

Women 399 276.8 85 52 121.3 262 155.5

Men exec 3 3.0 3 3.0

Men 225 164.7 85 8 90.6 132 74.1

Self described - - - - - - -

Age

Under 25 22 7.5 22 7.5

25-34 69 41.3 2 1 2.8 66 38.5

35-44 125 88.4 27 14 36.9 84 51.5

45-54 210 154.2 64 15 74.5 131 79.7

55-64 158 132.3 68 21 83.2 69 49.0

Over 64 46 23.8 9 9 14.5 28 9.3

Total Emps 630 447.5 170 60 211.9 400 235.5
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Workforce data full time equivalent (FTE)

Full Time Part Time Casual

2018 December Ongoing Fixed 
Term Ongoing Fixed 

Term Teacher Other Total

PACCT Staff 90.0 43.0 20.5 10.1 NA 9.4 173.0
Executive 6.0 NA 6.0
Other 1.0 NA 1.0*
Teacher 128.0 30.0 29.5 12.6 60.0 NA 260.1
Total 219.0 79.0 50.0 22.7 60.0 9.4
* Workcover (1.0)

Full Time Part Time Casual

2017 December Ongoing Fixed 
Term Ongoing Fixed 

Term Teacher Other Total

PACCT Staff 59.0 44.0 18.7 18.6 NA 14.6 154.9
Executive 6.0 NA 6.0
Other 1.0 NA 1.0*
Teacher 111.0 58.0 23.2 17.5 76.9 NA 286.6
Total 171.0 108.0 41.9 36.1 76.9 14.6
* Workcover (1.0)

All employees have been properly classified in the workforce data collections.

Application of employment and conduct principles
GOTAFE is committed to recruiting the best available people into the organisation and remunerating them appropriately.

Recruitment practices are in accordance with the government guidelines to ensure that GOTAFE meets the requirements 
of the Public Sector Management and Employment Act 1998. Recruitment processes are detailed in the Recruitment 
Policy and associated procedures.

GOTAFE observes an Employee Code of Conduct Policy that was amended in 2018, detailing the minimum obligations 
and standards of personal behaviour and conduct expected of staff employed.

The purpose of the code is to promote adherence to the public sector values prescribed in the Public Administration Act 
2004. The code outlines standards of behaviour rather than detailed policies and procedures.

All new staff are provided with a copy of the Code of Conduct for Victorian Public Sector Employees.
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GOTAFE is committed to providing a safe work 
environment for all employees, students, contractors and 
visitors and takes a proactive approach to best practice 
occupational health and safety. It also recognises 
that good OH&S practices not only provide a safer 
working environment but improve employee morale and 
productivity.

The organisation also acknowledges that improving 
workplace safety standards is best achieved through 
consultation, participation and training, and will continue 
to improve its performance in compliance with all relevant 
industry codes, legislation and standards.

Notable Achievements in 2018
• Engineer trainers Stephen Foster and Owen Beckham 

were awarded the annual Goulburn Valley Safety 
Group Workplace Safety Initiative or Solution Award 
for the best solution to a workplace safety issue.

• Employee participation in the Diabetes Australia Life! 
Program, resulting in weight loss and an increase in 
exercise from all participants.

• Reduction in the cost of workers’ compensation 
claims.

• Increased focus on management of non work related 
injuries, working with both the employee and manager 
to provide successful outcomes.

• Strong membership of the project team managing the 
Goulburn Murray Trades Skills Centre development to 
ensure a smooth relocation and occupancy of the new 
campus.

OH&S performance 
OH&S performance has been measured, and performance against the indicators is shown below.

Performance Indicators 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Number of reported hazards and 
incidents per 100 FTE staff members 44.31 36.43 45 NA NA

Lost-time standard claims per 100 FTE 
staff members 0.23 0.45 0.86 Not measured – LTIFR used – 

see below.

Lost-time injury frequency ratio 
(Standard claims per million hours 
worked)

1.25 2.53 4.54 6.63 1.8

Average cost per claim $3,661 $28,241 $1,703 $65,527 $44,586

Outstanding claim costs (estimate) $9,687 $127,902 $2,290 $61,811 $46,162

Fatalities 0 0 0 0 0

Note: Average cost per claim has decreased in 2018 due to the reduction in severity of the claims.

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
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External reviews: Ministerial Review of 
GOTAFE
The Hon. Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training and 
Skills and Minister for Higher Education, informed the 
Board of GOTAFE in January of the appointment of an 
independent expert to conduct a review of GOTAFE’s 
governance structures, business processes and 
administration. This review followed identification of 
several breaches in 2017.

GOTAFE welcomed the review and co-operated with the 
independent expert, John Watson, and the Department 
of Education and Training to ensure it provided the best 
outcome for students and staff.

Mr Watson commenced his inquiry in February and 
reported his findings and recommendations to the 
Department in late April. These were then provided to the 
Minister.

The Board was updated on the outcomes of the review 
and a summary report was communicated to staff in May.

Major commercial activities
The Goulburn Murray Trades Skills Centre, a project 
partnership of GOTAFE with a consortium of local 
schools, was completed in 2018. The new facility, located 
at the Archer Street Shepparton site adjacent to McGuire 
College, has created shared timetabling with the local 
schools. Funding of $9.356 million was from an equal 
contribution from GOTAFE and the Commonwealth. The 
project was managed and delivered through the Victorian 
Department of Education and Training.

The new facility initially accommodates building and 
construction, joinery and cabinetmaking industry training, 
and features specialist workshop facilities, generalist 
teaching areas and other spaces designed to allow for 
integrated learning.

A 50 year lease of the site will enable the opportunity for 
further stages of development.

No other major commercial activities were added to the 
register during 2018.

Controlled entities
GOTAFE does not have any controlled entities.

Government advertising
Details of the government advertising expenditure 
(campaigns with a media spend of $100 000 or greater) 
in 2018 appear in the following table:

Name of campaign
Apply Now – 2018 
Campaign for 2019 
intake

Campaign summary

To raise profile of 
GOTAFE and generate 
awareness of 2019 
course offerings

Start / end date
November, December 
2018- TBA (promoting 
2019 courses)

Advertising (media) 
expenditure 2018 
(excluding GST)

$154,667

Creative and campaign 
development expenditure 
2018 (excluding GST)

NA

Research and evaluation 
expenditure 2016 
(excluding GST)

In house

Print and collateral 
expenditure 2018 
(excluding GST)

$14,265

Other campaign 
expenditure 2018 
(excluding GST)

N/A

Other Disclosures

Information and communication 
technology (ICT) expenditure
For the 2018 reporting period, GOTAFE had a total ICT 
expenditure of $3,110,000 with the details shown below.

($ million)

Business As Usual (BAU) ICT
expenditure (Total) $ 2.952

Non-Business As Usual (non-BAU) ICT 
expenditure
(Total = Operational expenditure
and Capital Expenditure)

$ 0.158

Operational expenditure
(non-BAU) ICT $ 0

Capital expenditure
(non-BAU) ICT $ 0.158
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Details of individual consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)

Consultant Purpose of 
consultancy Start date End date

Total 
approved 
project fee
(excluding 
GST)

Expenditure 
2018
(excluding 
GST)

Future 
expenditure
(excluding 
GST)

Australian
Industry Group

Enterprise
Agreement
Bargaining

28/02/18 16/08/18 - 11,257 -

Corporate
Strategic
Systems

ICT Strategy
development 01/10/18 31/03/19 - 33,801 -

Johnson Winter 
& Slattery Legal Advice 01/03/18 09/07/18 - 14,970 -

KPMG
Organisational
Capability
Assessment

08/01/18 11/02/19 - 403,742 -

Landers &
Rogers Legal Advice 31/01/18 28/11/18 - 114,657 -

Leadership
Resilience Group Culture Audit 12/11/18 14/02/19 - 93,857 -

Maddocks Legal Advice 31/08/18 07/02/19 - 56,570 -

Redd Consulting Industrial
Relations Advice 28/11/18 13/12/18 - 99,680 -

Right Lane Strategic Advice 15/01/18 24/10/18 - 32,001 -

Socom Strategic Advice 31/07/18 06/09/18 - 15,679 -

TB Distribution Risk Management 29/01/18 06/04/18 - 17,720 -

Truth Agency
Communication
and Stakeholder
Engagement

31/10/18 15/02/19 - 116,925 -

Wright Business
Marketing

Communication
and Stakeholder
Engagement

23/01/18 30/06/18 - 40,065 -

Consultants
In 2018, there were 15 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The total 
expenditure incurred to December 2018 in relation to these consultancies is $1,143,936 (excluding GST). Details of 
individual consultancies can be viewed in the Annual Report at http://www.gotafe.vic.edu.au/contact/about-us/corporate-
publications.

In 2018, there were 12 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000. The total 
expenditure incurred to December 2018 in relation to these consultancies is $117,453 (excluding GST).
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National Competition Policy
The Victorian Competitive Neutrality Policy is to ensure 
that significant Government business activities compete 
fairly in the market. GOTAFE operates in an environment 
which is competitively neutral with the private sector. 
Prices for courses and services are set taking into 
account factors such as demand and competition, while 
ensuring that as a whole the organisation can recover the 
competitively neutral cost of providing services over the 
medium to long term.

Victorian Industry Participation Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 
is to ensure that small and medium-sized enterprises 
are given a full and fair opportunity to compete for 
government contracts. The policy requires government 
departments and agencies to consider competitive local 
suppliers for contracts in regional Victoria of $1 million or 
more. GOTAFE operates in compliance with this policy.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the right 
of the community to access information in the possession 
of the Government of Victoria and its departments and 
agencies. GOTAFE is a body established for a public 
purpose and as a State Government ‘agency’ is subject 
to the provisions of the Act and requests for information. 
Any requested document that is regarded as sensitive 
shall require the enquirer to make a Freedom of 
Information request.
Enquiries regarding access to a document or record 
can be made by phone to the authorised Freedom 
of Information Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, on 
1300 GOTAFE (1300 468 233). As detailed in s17 of 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982 formal requests 
for access to documents or records are required to be 
directed in writing to:

CEO
Attention: Freedom of Information Officer
GOTAFE
152 – 200 Fryers Street,
Shepparton, Victoria 3630

The requirements for making a Freedom of Information 
request are:
• it should be in writing;
• it should identify as clearly as possible which 

document or record is being requested; and
• it should be accompanied by the appropriate 

application fee (the fee may be waived in certain 
circumstances). Charges for access are in accordance 
with the Freedom of Information (Access Charges) 
Regulations 1983.

One request was made to GOTAFE to access information 
under Freedom of Information in 2018.

Further information regarding Freedom of Information can 
be found at www.foi.vic.gov.au.

Protected Disclosure
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 enables people to 
make disclosures about improper or corrupt conduct 
within the public sector without fear of reprisal. The 
Act aims to ensure openness and accountability by 
encouraging people to make disclosures and protecting 
them when they do.
GOTAFE has a procedure to meet its obligations under 
the Act and any regulations made pursuant to the Act or 
guidelines issued by the Independent Broad-Based Anti-
Corruption Commission (IBAC).
Any disclosures relating to GOTAFE personnel must be 
made directly to IBAC.
IBAC has not advised GOTAFE of any disclosures 
or sought any response to disclosures during 2018. 
However, IBAC did receive an allegation about GOTAFE 
and referred the matter to the Department of Education 
and Training, which commenced an investigation in 
November 2018.

Victorian Ombudsman
There was one Request for Information from the Victorian 
Ombudsman in 2018.

Carers Recognition Act
The Carers Recognition Act 2012 officially recognises 
care relationships and the role of carers in the 
community. The Act specifies obligations for state 
government agencies and other organisations that 
interact with people in care relationships.
GOTAFE recognise that some of its staff and students 
have carer responsibilities. Staff and/or students in 
a carer’s role are encouraged to access a range of 
support services, which may include leave provisions, 
counselling, disability and welfare support and flexible 
work arrangements.
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Building and maintenance provisions
GOTAFE maintains all building related plans and 
documentation where there is a requirement under the 
Building Act 1993.
All building contractors engaged by GOTAFE are 
registered as Building Practitioners where appropriate 
and maintain current certificates of currency.
GOTAFE considers that buildings across all campuses 
conform to the building regulations that applied at the 
time of construction for the respective structures.
Essential Safety Measures are recorded and reported by 
Keo Group.
Attainments for 2018 include:
• Funding of $3,096,682 was received from Skills 

First Stronger TAFE Fund to support the Asset 
Management Program.

• Maintained scheduled and reactive maintenance of 
assets.

• Compliance to the Department of Health and Human 
Services – Maintaining of Cooling Towers.

• Completion of the Goulburn Murray Trades Skills 
Centre, Archer St, Shepparton.

• Documentation of Asbestos Register and Management 
System to Victorian Asbestos Eradication Agency.

• Assessment and registration of documentation to 
Victorian Cladding Task Force. 

Victorian Public Sector Travel Policy
GOTAFE has a policy and procedures in place to ensure 
it is compliant with the Victorian Public Sector Travel 
Policy.

Non-academic student fees
Students enrolling in government-subsidised programs 
in 2018 were provided a brochure on Fees and Charges. 
This detailed information on:
• fees and charges
• exemptions and concessions
• payment options and fee refunds.
Fees and charges and Student Services information were 
also available on GOTAFE’s website.
In 2018 the Institute did not charge a Student Services 
and Amenities Fee.
The expenditure on student support services, amenities 
and activities included: orientation activities, youth 
pathway plans, counselling, disability support, first 
aid assistance and student activities. Information was 
provided in the student handbook and personally by 
support staff on various topics, including accommodation, 
public transport, health information, course advice and 
fee payment assistance. This expenditure amounted to:
Salary of Student Services, Disability and Counselling 
Officers - $1,210,617
Non-Salary - $47,408
The services provided for students were further detailed 
within the Student Services brochures displayed and 
made freely available throughout the organisation and on 
the GOTAFE website and through orientation.

Design and print requirements
GOTAFE’s Annual Report complies with the Financial 
Reporting Direction FRD 30C Standard requirements for 
the publication of annual reports.
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Key environmental indicators for 2018 appear in the following tables.

Energy

2017 2018

Indicator Electricity Natural gas Green 
power

Electricity Natural gas Green 
power

Total energy usage (MJ) 13,446,658 11,280,112 0 12,249,221 10,824,140 -

Greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with energy use (t 
CO2 e)

5,005 623 - 4,559 597 -

Actions undertaken

LED lights Continued upgrades to LED lighting systems

Explanatory notes
Energy data above is for both training operations and office and is not able to be differentiated for office only.

Transport

2017 2018

Indicator Diesel 
vehicles

LPG 
vehicles

Petrol 
vehicles

Diesel 
vehicles

LPG 
vehicles

Petrol 
vehicles

Total fuel consumption by vehicles 
(litres)

82,884 26,437 20,874 47,781 17,710 44,960

Total vehicle travel (km) 1,142,927 173,662 240,576 838,492 142,784 593,298

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from vehicle fleet (t CO2 e)

238 45 52 137 30 112

Total distance travelled by aeroplane 
(km)

147,594 62,075

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from aeroplane travel (t CO2 e)

29
(adjusted from last year;

Corporate Traveller co2-e emissions 
methodology used for this report)

12
(Corporate Traveller co2-e emissions 

methodology)

Actions undertaken

ICT participation The increasing use of videoconferencing and Skype, and a reduction
in the number of Institute vehicles has resulted in a 16.5% reduction
in automotive transport emissions.

Explanatory notes
Vehicles include cars (pool cars and manager-allocated vehicles) and buses for transport of students. Training vehicles 
(tractors, quad bikes) are excluded. Aeroplane travel includes staff flights. Any student excursion travel is excluded.

Environmental Sustainability
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Waste

Indicator 2017 2018

Landfill Co-mingle 
recycling

Compost Landfill Co-mingle 
recycling

Compost

Total units of waste disposed of (kg/
yr)

104,143 33,614 Not 
available

103,484 30,762 Not 
available

Recycling rate (percentage of total 
waste)

24.4% %

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from waste (t CO2 e)

Not available Not available

Actions undertaken

Waste management system Continuing to sort waste

Explanatory notes
Waste is for both training operations and office. Paperboard and paper is included with co-mingle recycling data above. 
Scrap metal and garden organics are additionally recycled or composted.

Paper

Indicator 2017 2018

Total units of copy paper used 
(reams) 7,366 7,346

Actions undertaken

Copy paper purchase Copy paper is Australian Forestry Standard certified and primarily
certified as carbon neutral and 20% recycled

Explanatory notes
Aggregate paper use on GOTAFE printer/photocopier machines by staff and students or outsourced to the contracted 
printer.

Water

Indicator 2017 2018

Total units of metered water 
consumed (kilolitres) 38,481 39,205

Actions undertaken

Water harvesting The new Goulburn Murray Trades Skills Centre features rainwater harvesting for 
toilet flushing, landscaping and wash-down areas

Explanatory notes
Kilolitres consumed data is potable/town water for training operations, grounds maintenance and office use for campuses 
other than a shared/co-located site in western Victoria. Higher usage in 2017 was impacted by a number of water leaks 
on campus, which have been rectified.
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Risk Management Framework
The Victorian Government Risk Management Framework 
provides a minimum risk management standard for 
the Victorian public sector. The Framework describes 
what agencies are required to meet to demonstrate 
that they are managing risk effectively. The Framework 
adopts the Australian and New Zealand Standard AS/
NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management – Principles 
and Guidelines, which provides a generic, internationally 
accepted basis for best practice risk management.

GOTAFE has applied the Victorian Government Risk 
Management Framework in developing and implementing 
its risk management policy and procedure. Risk registers 
are established for all operational areas and are reviewed 
regularly with management, while RSM was contracted 
to undertake an internal audit program predicated on a 
strategic risk assessment. The Audit Committee reviews 
the organisation’s risk management framework and the 
status and change of identified risks, and provides advice 
to the Board.

The effectiveness of GOTAFE’s risk management 
processes to manage risks to a satisfactory level has 
come under greater scrutiny following identification 
of breaches of contractual requirements with the 
Department of Education and Training relating to third-
party and brokerage arrangements.

As a result, GOTAFE has strengthened internal controls 
and improved its contract administration processes to 
ensure the correct procedures are followed, especially for 
third-party arrangements.

In addition, following a number of reviews during 
2017, GOTAFE has placed a renewed emphasis on 
not only meeting but also exceeding its compliance 
responsibilities including quality assurance monitoring.

Risks relating to insurance and indemnities are assured 
with relevant policies established with the Victorian 
Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA).
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Financial Management Compliance Report Page 13 

12th March 2019 

 

Simon Hollingsworth 
Deputy Secretary 
Higher Education and Skills Group 
Ground Floor, 2 Treasury Place,  
East Melbourne VIC 3002 

 

Dear Deputy Secretary Hollingsworth 

Financial management compliance report 2018 

In accordance with Direction 5.1.2 of the Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 (FMA) (the Directions) an annual assessment of compliance with all 
applicable requirements in the FMA, the Directions and accompanying Instructions has been 
conducted for the 2018 financial year. 

I can confirm that the attached compliance report has been reviewed and approved by the Audit 
and Risk committee in accordance with Instruction 5.1, Clause 1.3 and is now submitted for your 
attention. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Joanne Dwyer 
Board Chair 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
 
 
 
CC 
Greg Norton 
Executive Director 
Training Market Quality 
 
Note: 
Letter must be addressed to the Department Secretary and CCed to the Department Portfolio Compliance 
Manager 
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Additional information available on 
request
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing 
Directions of the Assistant Treasurer, details in respect 
of the items listed below have been retained by 
GOTAFE and are available on request, subject to the 
provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 1982.
• a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests 

have been duly completed by all relevant officers;
• details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee 

or held beneficially in a statutory authority or 
subsidiary;

• details of publications produced by the entity about 
itself, and how these can be obtained;

• details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 
levies charged by the entity;

• details of any major external reviews carried out on 
the entity;

• details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by the entity;

• details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each 
visit;

• details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by the entity to 
develop community awareness of the entity and its 
services;

• details of assessments and measures undertaken 
to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees;

• a general statement on industrial relations within 
the entity and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes;

• a list of major committees sponsored by the entity, 
the purposes of each committee and the extent to 
which the purposes have been achieved;

• details of all consultancies and contractors including 
consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, 
and expenditure committed to for each engagement.

Enquiries regarding details of any of the above should 
be addressed to:

Chief Executive Officer
GOTAFE
152 – 200 Fryers Street,
Shepparton, Victoria 3630
Phone: 1300 GOTAFE (1300 468 233)

Audit Committee
The Board complies with the ‘Standing Directions of 
the Assistant Treasurer 2016’ item 3.2.1.1 (c); the 
Audit Committee has reviewed the annual financial 
statements and recommended these be authorised by 
the Board before they are released to Parliament by the 
Responsible Minister.
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Financial Report
How this report is structured
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has presented its audited general purpose financial statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2018 in the following structure to provide users with the information about Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s 
stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

Financial
statements

Comprehensive operating statements 43
Balance sheet 44
Cash flow statement 45
Statements of changes in equity 46

Notes to the 
financial 
statements

1. About this report
1.1 Basis of preparation 47
1.2 Compliance 47
2. How we earned our funds
2.1 Government contributions 48
2.2 Sale of goods and services 49
2.3 Other income 50
3. How we expended our funds
3.1 Employee benefits 51
3.2 Superannuation 54
3.3 Supplies and services 55
3.4 Operating lease payments 56
3.5 Other operating expenses 57
4. The assets we invested in
4.1 Property, plant and equipment 58
4.2 Investment properties 60
4.3 Intangible assets 61
4.4 Investments and other financial assets 62
5. Balances from operations
5.1 Inventories 63
5.2 Receivables 63
5.3 Prepayments 65
5.4 Payables 65
5.5 Other liabilities 66
6. How we financed our operations
6.1 Cash and deposits 67
6.2 Contributed equity 68
7. Managing risks and uncertainties
7.1 Financial instruments 69
7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 76
7.3 Fair value determination 77
8. Governance
8.1 Responsible persons 81
8.2 Remuneration of executives 82
8.3 Related parties 83
8.4 Auditors remuneration 85
9. Other disclosures
9.1 Ex gratia expenses 86
9.2 Other economic flows included in net result 86
9.3 Other equity reserves 86
9.4 Events after reporting date 86
9.5 Application of standards issued but not yet effective 87
9.6 Change in accounting policies 90
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Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Board, the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE for the year ended 31 December 2018, I declare that, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
15 March 2019 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Declaration in the Financial Statements

Chair of the Board Chief Executive Officer
Joanne Dwyer Travis Heeney

Shepparton Shepparton
12 March 2019 12 March 2019

Chief Finance & Accounting Officer
Peter Ladd

Shepparton
12 March 2019

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars included in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 12 March 2019.

FINANCIAL REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2018

DECLARATION BY THE CHAIR OF THE BOARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

AND CHIEF FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER

The attached financial statements for Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE have been prepared in accordance with Standing 
Direction 5.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994 , the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the statement of comprehensive operating, balance sheet, 
cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during 
the year ended 31 December 2018 and financial position of the Institute as at 31 December 2018. 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (the institute) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration by the Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance and 

Accounting Officer. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 
1994 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including: 

• presenting fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the institute as at 31 
December 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended  

• complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those 
standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my 
report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of 
the institute in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My staff 
and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion. 

Board's 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial report  

The Board of the institute is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Part 7 of the Financial Management 
Act and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, and for such internal 
control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the institute’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (the institute) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration by the Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance and 

Accounting Officer. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 
1994 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including: 

• presenting fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the institute as at 31 
December 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended  

• complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those 
standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my 
report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of 
the institute in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My staff 
and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion. 

Board's 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial report  

The Board of the institute is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Part 7 of the Financial Management 
Act and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, and for such internal 
control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the institute’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the institute’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the institute’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am 
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the institute to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during my audit. 

I also provide the Board with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
15 March 2019 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Comprehensive operating statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Note
2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Continuing Operations

Income from transactions
Government contributions 2.1 43,050 45,807

Sale of goods and services 2.2 11,574 15,991

Interest income 6.1.2 649 457
Other income 2.3 998 881

Total income from transactions 56,271 63,136

Expenses from transactions
Employee benefits 3.1.1 37,164 40,004
Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.1, 4.3 4,821 4,818
Supplies and services 3.3 9,359 11,619
Other operating expenses 3.5 4,827 4,377

Total expenses from transactions 56,171 60,818

Net result from transactions 100 2,318

Other economic flows included in net result
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets 4.1.2 79 198
Net gain/(loss) on investment properties 4.2 195 15
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 7.1.1 (53) (183)
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 9.2 (494) 293

Total other economic flows included in net result (273) 323
Net result from continuing operations 6.1.1 (173) 2,641

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in physical asset revaluation surplus 9.3 - 2,336

Comprehensive result (173) 4,977

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2018

Note
2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Assets

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 6.1 29,333 19,892
Receivables 5.2 5,407 10,880
Investments and other financial assets 4.4 12,800 12,910

Total financial assets 47,540 43,682

Non-financial assets
Inventories 5.1 70 95
Prepayments 5.3 1,078 994
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 90,402 93,164
Investment properties 4.2 2,270 2,075
Intangible assets 4.3 2,499 2,907

Total non-financial assets 96,319 99,235

Total assets 143,859 142,917

Liabilities

Payables 5.4 6,452 5,939
Employee provisions 3.1.2 8,306 8,069
Other liabilities 5.5 570 205

Total liabilities 15,328 14,213

Net assets 128,531 128,704

Equity

Contributed capital 6.2 46,080 46,080
Accumulated surplus 25,462 25,635
Physical asset revaluation surplus 9.3 56,989 56,989

Net worth 128,531 128,704

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Note
2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
Government contributions 45,369 46,460

User fees and charges received 14,916 14,635

Goods and services tax recovered 220 198

Interest received 602 482

Other receipts 998 926

Total receipts 62,105 62,701

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (49,589) (53,130)
Goods and services tax paid (1,613) (987)

Total payments (51,202) (54,117)

Net cash flows from operating activities 6.1.1 10,903 8,584

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investments (22,450) (6,538)

Proceeds from sale of investments 22,560 22,227

Purchase of non-financial assets (1,721) (5,869)

Proceeds from sales of non-financial assets 149 213
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (1,462) 10,033
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,441 18,617

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 19,892 1,275

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 6.1 29,333 19,892

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes

Physical 
assets 

revaluation 
surplus

$’000

Accumulated 
surplus

$’000

Contributions 
by owner

$’000

Total

$’000
Balance at 1 January 2017 54,653 22,994 46,080 123,727

Net result for the year - 2,641 - 2,641

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income 2,336 - - 2,336

Balance at 31 December 2017 56,989 25,635 46,080 128,704

Net result for the year - (173) - (173)

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2018 56,989 25,462 46,080 128,531

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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1.1 Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, the functional and presentation currency of 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, and have been 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention unless a different measurement basis is 
specifically disclosed in notes associated with the item 
measured on that different basis. Amounts in the financial 
report have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise stated.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised 
in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of 
when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required 
to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and associated assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised and also in future periods that are affected by the 
revision.

Judgements made by management in the application 
of Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) that have 
significant effects on the financial statements and 
estimates relate to:

 Ì the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment (refer to note 7.3); and

 Ì actuarial assumptions for employee benefit 
provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, 
patterns of leave claims, future salary movements 
and future discount rates (refer to note 3.1).

These financial statements cover Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE as an individual reporting entity.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included with other receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet.

Funding risk

Funding risk is the risk of over reliance on a particular 
funding source to the extent that a change in that funding 
source could impact on the operating results of the 
current year and future years.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has substantial 
economic dependency on Government operating and 
capital contributions.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE manages funding 
risk by continuing to diversify and increase funding from 
commercial activities, both domestically and offshore.

There has been no significant change in Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE’s exposure, or its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing funding risk or the methods 
used to measure this risk from the previous reporting 
period. 

1.2 Compliance information
These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994 (FMA), applicable AAS which include 
Interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012. In particular, 
they are presented in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of the AASB 1049 Whole of Government 
and General Government Sector Financial Reporting .

For the purposes of preparing financial statements, 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is classed as a not-for-
profit entity. Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs 
applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner 
which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, 
thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions or other events is reported. Accounting 
policies applied are disclosed in sections where the 
related financial statement line item is disclosed.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is a statutory body 
corporate, established pursuant to an Act made by the 
Victorian Government under the Education and Training 
Reform Act 2006 Section 3.1.12 4(a) .

Its registered office and principal address is:
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE
Fryers Street
Shepparton, Victoria, Australia 3630

1. About this Report
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2.1 Government contributions

 Grants and other transfers 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

State government - contestable 16,424 20,769

State government - other contributions 26,626 24,738

Commonwealth Government - other contributions - -

Total government contributions - operating 43,050 45,507

Commonwealth-capital - -
State-capital - 300
Total Government contributions - capital - 300

Total Government contributions 43,050 45,807

Government contributions are recognised as revenue in the period when the following conditions are met: Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE obtains control of the contributions or the right to receive the contribution, the economic benefits 
comprising the contribution will flow to Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE and theamount of the contribution can be 
measured reliably. State Government – contestable revenue for 2018 includes an offset of $2.9 million for a repayment of 
incorrectly claimed income from state government training revenue.

During the current year, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE received government contributions from the Stronger TAFE 
Fund, TAFE Organisation Capability Development, Skills First - Community Service Funding, TAFE Multi-Enterprise 
Agreement, Reconnect Program and Regional Specialist Training Fund.

2. How we earn our Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2.2 Sale of goods and services
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Student fees and charges 5,564 5,092

Fee for service - government 3,935 6,884

Fee for service - international operations - onshore 51 81

Fee for service - other 1,751 3,638
Other non-course fees and charges
Sale of goods 273 296

Total sale of goods and services 11,574 15,991

Student fees and charges
Student fees and charges revenue is recognised by reference to the percentage completion of education and training 
services provided. Where student fees and charges revenue has been clearly received in respect of courses or programs 
to be delivered in the following year, any non-refundable portion of the fees are treated as revenue in the year of receipt 
and the balance as revenue in advance.

Fee for service
Fee for service revenue is recognised by reference to the percentage completion of each contract, i.e. in the reporting 
period in which the services are rendered. Where fee for service revenue of a reciprocal nature has been clearly received 
in respect of programs or services to be delivered in the following year, such amounts are disclosed as revenue in 
advance.

Revenue from sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE when:
 Ì the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer;
 Ì Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 

with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
 Ì the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
 Ì it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE; 

and
 Ì the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

2. How we earn our Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2.3 Other income
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Rental income 436 224

Donations, bequests and contributions 70 29

Scholarships 4 12

Other revenue 488 616

Total other income 998 881

Rental income
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE receives rental income for buildings leased out to the general public when the buildings 
are excess to the current requirement, at current market rates and are brought to account when Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE’s right to receive the rental is established.
Rental income is also received from leasing of investment properties which is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease and brought to account when Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s right to receive the rental is 
established.

Operating leases receivable

Receivable: 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Within one year 361 345

Later than one year but not later five years 1,064 651

Later than five years 1,199 457

Total lease receivables 2,624 1,453

GST payable on the above (238) (132)

Net operating lease receivables 2,386 1,321

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments.

In the event that lease incentives are given to the lessee, the aggregate cost of incentives are recognised as a reduction 
of rental income over the lease term, on a straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern over which the economic benefit of the leased asset is diminished.

Donations bequests and contribution

Donations, bequests and contributions are recognised when received and the amount can be measured reliably.

Scholarship

Scholarship is recognised when the relevant conditions attached have been fulfilled.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Other revenue represents income arising 
from hire of buildings and rooms and recoveries for workcover claims.

2. How we earn our Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3.1 Employee benefits

Significant judgement and estimates: Provision for employee benefits
The present value of employee benefit obligations including annual leave, long service leave and on-costs are 
determinded using actuarial valuation. An acturial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These include:
• Employee tenure period [16 years] [2017: 16 years];
• Future salary growth rate [4.08 %] [2017: 3.63 %];
• Long Service Leave bond discount rate [2.68 %] [2017: 2.68 %];
• Payroll tax on-cost rate [4.94 %] [2017: 4.94 %];
• Workcover on-cost rate [1.00 %] [2017: 0.68 %];and
• Superannuation on-cost rate [9.50 %] [2017: 9.50 %]
All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

3.1.1 Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement

Expense 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Salaries, wages, overtime and allowances 28,303 30,185

Defined contribution superannuation expense 2,871 3,016

Defined benefit superannuation expense 3.2 89 99

Payroll tax 1,061 1,625

Worker’s compensation 526 223

Long service leave 404 849

Annual leave 2,694 2,349

Termination benefits 834 232

Other 382 1,426

Total employee benefits 37,164 40,004

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment, including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave 
entitlements, termination payments, WorkCover premiums and accrued wages and salaries. Superannuation disclosed 
above are employer contributions that are paid or payable during the reporting period.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE recognises 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date are 
discounted to present value.

3. How we expended our Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3.1.2. Employee benefits in the balance sheet

Current provisions 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits - Annual leave

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months 1,975 1,880

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months 265 180

Employee benefits - Long service leave

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months 266 254

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months 4,208 3,991

Provisions for on-costs

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months 332 326

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months 635 650

Total current provisions for employee benefits 7,681 7,281
Non-current provisions
Employee benefits 548 681
Employee benefits on-costs 77 107
Total non-current provisions 625 788
Total employee provisions 8,306 8,069

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

3. How we expended our Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3.1 Employee benefits (continued)
Reconciliation of movements in on-cost provision

$'000
Carrying amount at the start of the year 1,083

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits (25)

Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate (14)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 1,044

Wages, salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits annual leave are all recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave are measured 
at:

 Ì undiscounted value – if the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

 Ì present value – if the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability, even where the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not expect 
to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of the current LSL liability are measured at:

 Ì nominal value (undiscounted value) – component that is expected to be wholly settled within 12 months; and

 Ì present value (discounted value) – component that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at 
present value. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest for which it is then recognised 
as an other economic flow. The discount rate applied is as advised by the Assistant Treasurer.

Provision for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from 
the provision of employee benefits.

3. How we expended our Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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3.2 Superannuation
Employees of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) 
provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities in respect of the plan(s) because the 
entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance recognises and discloses the 
State’s defined benefit liabilities in its financial statements.
However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits 
in the Comprehensive Operating Statement of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE. The name and details of the major 
employee superannuation funds and contributions made by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE are as follows:

Paid contribution 
for the year

Contribution 
outstanding at year 

end
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Defined benefit plans:

State Superannuation Fund - revised and new 89 99 - -

Defined contribution plans:

VicSuper 1,396 1,498 - -

Other 1,475 1,518 - -

Total 2,960 3,115  -    -   

Defined contribution plans
Contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed when they become payable.

Defined benefit plans
The expenses recognised represents the contributions made by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE to the superannuation 
plan in respect of current services of current Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE staff which are based on the relevant rules 
of each plan.
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3.3 Supplies and services
Note 2018 2017

$'000 $'000
Purchase of supplies and consumables 1,469 1,846

Communication expenses 551 511

Contract and other services 3,911 4,198

Cost of goods sold/distributed (ancillary trading) 355 327

Building repairs and maintenance 628 801

Operating lease payments 3.4 83 2,035

Fees and charges 2,362 1,901

Total supplies and services 9,359 11,619

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying 
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.

Fees and charges are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Other expenditure commitments
Commitments for requistions to purchase goods and services that are in existence at reporting date but not recognised 
as liabilities, payable:

2018 2017
Payable: $'000 $'000

Within one year 1,987 704

Total other expenditure commitments 1,987 704

GST reclaimable on the above (181) (64)

Net operating lease commitments 1,806 640
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3.4 Operating lease payments
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Operating lease rental expenses 83 2,035

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments payable
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Payable: 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Within one year 583  367 

Later than one year but not later than five years 675  617 

 -    -   

Total operating lease commitments 1,258 984

GST reclaimable on the above (114) (89)

Net operating lease commitments 1,144 895

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive 
operating statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. The leased asset is not 
recognised in the balance sheet.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate cost of incentives are 
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3.5 Other operating expenses
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

General expenses 852 593

Marketing and promotional expenses 991 1,000

Utilities 1,113 1,049

Audit fees and services 170 110

Staff development 416 387

Travel and motor vehicle expenses 678 757

Insurances 174 173

Ex gratia expense 9.1 105 -

Direct operating expenses of investment properties generating rental income 1 1

Equipment below capitalisation threshold 327 307

Total other operating expenses 4,827 4,377

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Other operating expenses are recognised as when they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they 
relate to.
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment

Fair value measurement
Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional information is disclosed in Note 7.3 in 
connection with how those fair values were determined.

In accordance with government purpose classifications, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s property, plant and 
equipment are assets used for the purpose of education. Property, plant & equipment includes all operational assets.

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated 
depreciation Net carrying amount

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Land 14,645 14,645 - - 14,645 14,645
Buildings 71,164 71,164 (3,182) - 67,982 71,164
Construction in Progress 4,992 5,066 - - 4,992 5,066
Plant and equipment 15,230 13,798 (12,836) (11,868) 2,394 1,930
Motor vehicles 1,975 2,079 (1,586) (1,720) 389 359
Net carrying amount 108,006 106,752 (17,604) (13,588) 90,402 93,164

Initial recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment, are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is received for no or nominal consideration, the cost is the 
asset’s fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour 
on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.

Subsequent measurement

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering legal or physical restrictions 
imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset) and is 
summarised below by asset category.

Specialised land and specialised buildings: The market approach is also used for specialised land, although is adjusted 
for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the land being valued.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to 
the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants.

The fair value of plant, equipment and vehicles, is normally determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated 
replacement cost.

Revaluations of non-financial physical assets

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued in accordance with Financial Reporting Directions 
(FRDs) issued by the Assistant Treasurer.

Refer to Note 7.3 for additional information on fair value determination of property, plant and equipment.
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment
Depreciation methods and rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of assets Useful Life

Building 25 - 40 years (2017: 15 - 40 years)

Plant and Equipment 7 years (2017: 7 years)

Computer and Electronic Equipment 3 - 7 years (2017: 3 - 7 years)

Motor Vehicles 4 years (2017: 4 years)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments made where appropriate..

Charge for the period 2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Buildings 3,182 3,202

Plant and equipment 1,063 941

Motor vehicles 115 241

Total depreciation 4,360 4,384

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated 
residual value, over its estimated useful life.

Impairment

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired.

The assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s 
carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written off as an ‘other economic flow’, except to the 
extent that it can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its 
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at its fair value less costs to sell.

4.1.2 Gain/loss on property, plant and equipment
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 79 198

Total gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 79 198

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations, 
impairments, and disposals of all physical assets and intangible assets.

Any gain or loss on disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date control of the asset is passed to the buyer 
and is determined after deducting from the proceeds, the carrying value of the asset at the time.
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
4.1.3 Reconciliation of movements in carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings
Construction 
in progress

Plant and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Opening 
balance 14,645 12,803 71,164 73,871 5,067 591 1,930 2,132 359 429 93,165 89,826

Additions - - - - 779 4,476 673 739 182 190 1,634 5,405
Disposals - - - - - - - - (37) (19) (37) (19)
Transfers 
into/(out of) 
assets under 
construction

- - - - (854) - 854 - - - - -

Revaluation of 
PPE - 1,842 - 494 - - - - - - - 2,336

Depreciation - - (3,182) (3,202) - - (1,063) (941) (115) (241) (4,360) (4,384)
Impairment - - - - - - - - - - - -
Closing 
balance 14,645 14,645 67,982 71,164 4,992 5,067 2,394 1,930 389 359 90,402 93,164

4.1.4. Capital commitments
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Payable:
Within one year 17,813 2,685

Later than one year but not later than five years 8,140 19,036

Total capital expenditure commitments (inclusive of GST) 25,953 21,721

GST reclaimable on the above (2,359) (1,975)

Net capital expenditure commitments (exclusive of GST) 23,594 19,746

These capital commitments are recorded at their nominal value and inclusive of GST.

4.2 Investment properties
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 2,075 2060

Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments 195 15

Balance at end of financial year 2,270 2,075

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment property 
excludes properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the Institute. Investment properties are initially recognised 
at cost. Costs incurred subsequent to initital acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits 
in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Institute.

Subsequent to initital recognition at cost, investment properties are revalued to fair value with changes in the fair values 
recognised as other economic flows in the comprehensive operating statement in the period that they arise. Fair values 
are determined based on a market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similiar properties. 
These properties are neither depreciation nor tested for impairment.
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4.3 Intangible assets

Software 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Gross carrying amount

Opening balance 12,571 12,103

Additions 53 468

Closing balance 12,624 12,571

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Opening balance (9,664) (9,230)

Amortisation charge (461) (434)

Closing balance (10,125) (9,664)
Net book value at end of financial year 2,499 2,907

Initial recognition

Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. When recognition criteria in accordance with AASB 138 
Intangible Assets are met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) 
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:
 Ì the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
 Ì the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
 Ì the ability to use or sell the asset;
 Ì the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
 Ì the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 

the intangible asset; and
 Ì the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Subsequent measurement

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a straight basis over their useful lives. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual 
reporting period.

Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested annually for 
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are tested for impairment whenever an indication of impairment is identified.
If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their 
possible recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written 
off by a charge to the Comprehensive Operating Statement.
If there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the 
impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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4.3 Intangible assets (continued)
Significant intangible assets

The Institute has capitalised software development expenditure of its Technology One Student Management System 
(SMS) Software. The carrying amount of the capitalised software development expenditure is $12.624M (2017: $12.571). 
The useful life of the SMS software was determined as ten years and it will be fully amortised in 2023.

Amortisation
Amortisation is provided on intangible assets, including software.

Amortisation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated 
residual value, over its estimated useful life.

Amortisation methods and rates used for intangible assets are:

Class of intangible asset Useful Life
Internal use software 10 years (2017: 10 years)

4.4 Investments and other financial assets

Current investments and other financial assets 2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Australian dollar term deposits > three months 12,800 12,910

Total current investments and other financial assets 12,800 12,910

Total investments and other financial assets 12,800 12,910

Ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets

Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Past due but not impaired

Less than 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months
- 1 year 1 - 5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2018
Term deposits 12,800 12,800 - - - -
Total 12,800 12,800 - - - -

2017
Term deposits 12,910 12,910 - - - -
Total 12,910 12,910 - - - -
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5.1 Inventories
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Supplies and consumables - at cost 9 8

Work in progress - at cost 12 40

Inventories held for sale 49 47

Total current inventories 70 95
Total inventories 70 95

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential.

5.2 Receivables

Contractual 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Sale of goods and services 4,324 7,497

Impairment loss on trade receivables (310) (557)

Accrued investment income 111 63

Revenue receivable 956 3,618
Deposits and Bonds 1 1
Statutory
GST input tax credit recoverable 325 258

Total receivables 5,407 10,880
Represented by

Current receivables 5,407 10,880
Non-current receivables - -

Receivables consist of:

 Ì statutory receivables, which include predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government and GST input tax 
credits recoverable; and

 Ì contractual receivables, which include mainly debtors in relation to goods and services, loans to third parties, 
accrued investment income.

Receivables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable. Receivables that are contractual are classified as 
financial instruments. Statutory receivables are not classified as financial instruments.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method, less an allowance for impairment.

Impairment

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime Expected Credit Losses 
(ECLs). Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit-losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value 
of all cash shortfalls.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows. 
Comparative amounts for 2017 represent the allowance amount for impairment losses under AASB 139.
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5.2 Receivables (continued)

Movement in the provision for doubtful contractual receivables 2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the year under AASB 139 (557) (1,420)

Reversal of provision for uncollectible receivables written off during the year 51 1,046

Increase in provision recognised in net result 196 (183)

Balance at the end of the year (310) (557)

Ageing analysis of contractual receivables

Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Past due

Less than 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months
- 1 year 1 - 5 years

2018 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Sale of goods and services 4,014 501 1,119 1,096 1,290 8
Accrued investment income 111 111 - - - -
Revenue receivables 956 - 266 230 460 -
Other receivables 1 - - - - 1
Total 5,082 612 1,385 1,326 1,750 9
2017
Sale of goods and services 6,940 231 1,560 1,631 3,518 -
Accrued investment income 63 63 - - - -
Revenue receivables 3,618 2,517 - 538 350 213
Other receivables 1 - - - - 1
Total 10,622 2,811 1,560 2,169 3,868 214

Note: The disclosures above excludes statutory receivables (e.g., amounts arising to Victorian Government and GST 
taxes payable).

The average credit period on sales of goods is 31 days. No interest is charged on receivables.

There are no financial assets that have their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, 
and they are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated.
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5.3 Prepayments
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Current

Prepayments 1,048 986

Total current prepayments 1,048 986

Non-current
Prepayments 30 8

Total non-current prepayments 30 8
Total prepayments 1,078 994

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

5.4 Payables
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Contractual

Supplies and services 4,773 4,038

Other employee entitlements payable within 12 months 1,159 1,365

Statutory
GST payable 422 457

PAYG payable - 24

FBT payable 25 52

Payroll tax payable 73 3

Total payables 6,452 5,939
Represented by

  Current payables 6,452 5,939

  Non-current payables  -    -   

Payables consist of:

contractual payables, such as accounts payable and employee entitlements payable. Accounts payable represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE prior to the end of the financial year 
that are unpaid, and arise when Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE becomes obliged to make future payments in respect 
of the purchase of those goods and services. Employee entitlements represents accrued wages and salaries payable 
as at 31st December 2018; and

statutory payables, such as goods and services tax, pay as you go (PAYG) withholding tax, fringe benefits tax and 
payroll tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial 
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a 
contract.
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5.4 Payables (continued)
Maturity Analysis of contractual payables

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Less than 
1 month

1 - 3 
months

3 
months - 

1 year
1 - 5 

years
5+ 

years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2018  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Supplies and services 4,773 4,773 1,352 3,421 - - -
Revenue in advance 570 570 - 564 - 6 -
Other employee entitlements 
payable within 12 months 1,159 1,159 1,159 - - - -

Total 6,502 6,502 2,511 3,985 - 6 -
2017
Supplies and services 4,038 4,038 3,986 52 - - -
Revenue in advance 205 205 205 - - - -
Other employee entitlements 
payable within 12 months 1,365 1,365 1,365 - - - -

Total 5,608 5,608 5,556 52 - - -

Note: The disclosures above excludes statutory payables (e.g., amounts arising to Victorian Government and GST taxes 
payable).

Notes: The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on the other payables. Terms and conditions of 
amounts payable to other government agencies vary according to a particular agreement with that agency.

5.5 Other liabilities

Current 2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Revenue received in advance 570 205

Total current other liabilities 570 205

Total other liabilities 570 205

Revenue received in advance
Any fees received by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE during the current financial year in respect of services to be 
provided in the following financial year are classified as liabilities and recognised as revenue received in advance.
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6.1 Cash and deposits
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Total cash at bank and on hand, and deposits at call 29,333 19,892

Total cash and deposits 29,333 19,892

The Institute does not hold a large cash reserve in its bank accounts, but due to timing of funding received from the 
Department of Education and Training in late December has substantially increased the cash holdings balance at 
year end. The Institute has an account with Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) where these excess funds have 
been transferred and invested accordingly in early January 2019. Cash received by the Institute from the generation of 
income is always paid into the Institute’s bank accounts. Similarly, any Institute expenditure, including those in the form 
of cheques drawn by the Institute for the payment of goods and services to its suppliers and creditors are made via the 
Institute’s bank accounts.

Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents, comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those 
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting 
short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, and which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts, which are 
included as borrowings on the balance sheet.

6.1.1 Reconciliation of operating result to net cash flows from operating activities
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Net result for the year (173) 2,641

Non cash movements
Depreciation & amortisation of non-financial assets 4,822 4,818

Net (gain)/loss on sale of non-financial assets (79) (198)

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of investment property (195) (15)

Net (gain)/loss on financial instruments 246 183

Movements in assets and liabilities
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 5,225 (1,469)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 26 (24)

Decrease/(increase) in other assets (84) (334)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 1,138 2,767

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 161 133

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (184) 82

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 10,903 8,584

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are presented as 
operating cash flows.
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6.1 Cash and deposits (continued)
6.1.2 Interest income

Interest from financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss 2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Interest on bank deposits 649 457

Total interest income 649 457

Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits and other investments and the unwinding over time 
of the discount on financial assets. Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method which allocates the 
interest over the relevant period.\

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or 
group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period.

6.2 Contributed equity

Contributed capital
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 46,080 46,080

Balance at 31 December 46,080 46,080

Contributed capital
Funding that are in the nature of contributions by the Victorian State government are treated as contributed capital when 
designated in accordance with UIG Interpretation 1038 Contribution by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities. Commonwealth capital funds are not affected and are treated as income.
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7.1 Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Categories of financial instruments

Contractual financial assets 2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Cash and deposits 6.1 29,333 19,892

Trade receivables 5.2 4,014 6,940

Other receivables 1 1

Revenue receivable 5.2 1,067 3,681

Term Deposits 4.4 12,800 12,910

Total contractual financial assets 47,215 43,424

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables and cash

  Supplies and services 5.4 4,773 4,038

Other employee entitlements payable within 12 months 5.4 1,159 1,365
 Revenue in advance 5.5 570 205

Total contractual financial liabilities 6,502 5,608

Categories of financial instruments
Finanical assets measured at amortised cost are financial instruments which meet both of the following criteria and 
are not designated at fair value through profit or loss:
 Ì it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cashflows; and
 Ì its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal amount outstanding.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE recognises the following financial assets in this category:
 Ì cash and deposits
 Ì receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and
 Ì term deposits;

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest bearing liability, using the effective 
interest rate method. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE recognises the following liabilities in this category:
 Ì payables (excluding statutory payables)
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
Offsetting financial instruments: Financial instrument assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the consolidated balance sheet when, and only when, the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE concerned has a 
legal right to offset the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.
Some master netting arrangements do not result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Where the Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE does not have a legally enforceable right to offset recognised amounts, because the right to 
offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future events such as default, insolvency or bankruptcy, they are reported 
on a gross basis.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:
 Ì the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
 Ì Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or
 Ì Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:

(a)has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b)has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

Where Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or 
transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s continuing involvement in 
the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
AASB 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in AASB 139 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new impairment 
model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not 
to investments in equity instruments. Under AASB 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under AASB 139. The 
financial assets at amortised cost consist of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, revenue receivable and term 
deposits.
Under AASB 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:
 Ì 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting 

date; and
 Ì lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 

instrument.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the 
following, which are measured as 12-month ECLs:
 Ì debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
 Ì other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life 

of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
7.1.1 Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instrument by category

Net holding 
gain/(loss)

Total interest 
income/

(expense)
Fee income 
(expense)

Impairment 
loss Total

Net holding gain/(loss) on 
financial instrument by category

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets – loans and 
receivables (53) (183) - - - - 247 863 194 680

Total contractual financial 
assets (53) (183) - - - - 247 863 194 680

The net holding gains or losses disclosed are determined as follows:
 Ì for cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is 

calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest income, plus or minus foreign exchange 
gains or losses arising from revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net 
result.

The net holding (loss) for loans and receivables is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset which 
represents the increase/decrease in provision for doubtful debts.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is exposed to a variety of financial risks, market risk (including foreign currency 
risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the 
associated volatility of its financial performance.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE. 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These 
methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and ageing 
analysis for credit risk.
Risk management is carried out by Financial Services under policies approved by the Board. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management. There has been no significant change in the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s 
exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s financial risks or 
the methods used to measure the risk from the previous reporting period.
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, which comprise cash 
and deposits and non-statutory receivables. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE.
Credit risk is measure at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis by the Institute’s Board. The Board monitors credit 
risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidty of counterparties:
 Ì all potential customers are rated for credit worthiness taking into account their size, market position and financial 

standing;
 Ì customers that do not meet the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s strict credit policies may only purchase in cash 

or using recognised credit cards;
 Ì only banks with an ‘A’ rating are utilised for operational transactions; and
 Ì all investments are placed with Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV).
The Institute does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or gorup of receivables under 
financial instruments entered into by the Institute.

The trade receivables balance at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 do not include any counterparties with 
external credit ratings. Customers are assessed for credit worthiness using the criteria detailed above.

The Institute minimises credit risk in relation to student loans receivable by direct debit agreements entered into with 
students who are unable to pay fees at the time of enrolment.

In addition, the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and 
mainly obtains contractual financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at 
bank. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairement for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Institute 
will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, 
debts which are more than 90 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

The carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the 
value of any collateral obtained.

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently the Institute does not 
hold any collateral as security nor credit enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.

7. Managing risks and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
There has been no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
credit risk or the methods used to mesure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial 
Institutions  
(AA- rating)

Government 
agencies  

(AAA rating)

Other 
counterparty Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
2018

Cash and deposits 10,333 19,000 - 29,333

Receivables 1 - - 5,082 5,082

Investments and other financial assets - 12,800 - 12,800

Total contractual financial assets 10,333 31,800 5,082 47,215
2017

Cash and deposits 19,888 - 4 19,892

Receivables 1 - - 10,622 10,622

Investments and other financial assets - 12,910 - 12,910

Total contractual financial assets 19,888 12,910 10,626 43,424

Notes:
1. The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian Government, 

GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
Loss rates are based on estimated credit loss experience. These rates are multiplied by scaler factors to reflect 
differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has been collected, current 
conditions and Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the 
receivables.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and 
when they fall due.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE operates under a payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in 
the event of a dispute, making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE ’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as 
disclosed on the face of the balance sheet.
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE manages liquidity risk by:
 Ì maintaining an adequate short term reserves and banking facilities that can be drawn at short notice to meet its 

short-term obligations;
 Ì holding investments and other contractual financial assets that are readily tradeable in the financial market; and
 Ì careful maturity planning of its financial obligations based on forecasts of future cash flows.
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and 
current assessment of risk.
There has been no significant change in Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing liquidity risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
Market risk
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE in its daily operations is exposed to a number of market risks. Market risks relate to the 
risk that market rates and prices will change and that this will have an adverse effect on the operating result and/or net 
worth of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE. These market risks primarily relate to foreign currency and interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is exposed to foreign currency risk mainly through the delivery of services in 
currencies other than Australian Dollar and payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas. 
There is a limited amount of transactions denominated in foreign currencies and a relatively short timeframe between 
the commitment and settlement. There is no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing foreign currency risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting 
period.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the potential for a change in interest rates to change the expected net interest earnings in 
the current reporting period and in future years, or cause a fluctuation in the fair value of the financial instruments.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that 
are measured at fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 
through its cash and deposits that are at floating rates.

The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE manages cash flow interest rate risk through a mixture of short term and longer 
term investments, and undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments with relatively even maturity 
profiles, with only insignificant amounts of financial instruments at floating rate. Management monitors movement in 
interest rate on a monthly basis.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates and the Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE’s sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out below.

7. Managing risks and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate exposure 
of financial instruments

Weighted 
average 

effective rate

Total carrying 
amount per 

balance sheet
Floating 

interest rate
Fixed interest 

rate
Non-interest 

bearing

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Financial assets % % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash and deposits 1.670 1.650 29,333 19,892 10,333 19,888 - - - 4
Receivables

Trade receivables - - 4,014 6,940 - - - - 4,014 6,940
Revenue receivable - - 1,067 3,681 - - - - 1,067 3,681
Other receivables - - 1 1 - - - - 1 1

Term deposits 1.780 1.670 12,800 12,910 - - 12,800 12,910 - -
Total financial assets 47,215 43,424 10,333 19,888 12,800 12,910 5,082 10,626
Financial Liabilities
Supplies and services - - 4,773 4,038 - - - - 4,773 1,750
Other payables - - 1,159 1,365 - - - - 1,159 782
Revenue in advance - - 570 205 - - - - 570 103
Total financial liabilities 6,502 5,608 - - - - 6,502 2,635

Interest rate risk sensitivity

A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points) in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
increased (decreased) equity and results by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant.

-50 basis points +50 basis points

Carrying 
amount Result Equity Result Equity

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contractual financial 
assets
Cash and deposits 29,333 19,892 (147) (99) (147) (99) 147 99 147 99
Receivables 5,082 10,622 - - - - - - - -
Investments 12,800 12,910 (64) (65) (64) (65) 64 65 64 65
Total impact 47,215 43,424 (211) (164) (211) (164) 211 164 211 164
Contractual financial 
liabilities
 Payables 6,502 5,608 - - - - - - - -
Total impact 53,717 49,032 (211) (164) (211) (164) 211 164 211 164
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7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, 
are measured at nominal value.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. These are 
classified as either quantifiable, where the potential economic benefit is known, or non-quantifiable.

Quantifiable contingent assets
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Compensation - Purchase of water shares 312 368

312 368

Notes
Goulburn Murray Water (GMW) first approached the Institute in June 2013 regarding the property at William Orr Campus, 
260 Wanganui Road, Shepparton and relinquishing the water rights attached to that property as part of the GMW 
Connections Project. The Institute decided to go to market in October 2015 and received an offer of $368,330. However, 
the offer is subject to the Minister’s approval as it is in the Minister’s name. In 2018, $56,070 was recevied from Integra 
Water Services. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE will not be pursuing any further sales.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are:
 Ì possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or
 Ì present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because:

 Ì it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligations; or

 Ì the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable.

There are no quantifiable or non quantifiable contingent liabilities.
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7.3 Fair value determination

Significant judgement: Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the most significant 
assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a material impact on the results and 
financial position of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE.

This section sets out information on how the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE determined fair values for financial 
reporting purposes. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:
 Ì land, buildings, plant and equipment and vehicles; and
 Ì investment properties.
In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost, also need to be determined for 
disclosure purposes.
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities as required.

Fair value estimation
In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as follows:
 Ì Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 Ì Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable; and
 Ì Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable.

The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 
the end of each reporting period.
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)
(a) Fair value determination of non-financial assets
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE holds property, plant and equipments for which fair values are determined. Below are 
the relevant fair value information relating to those assets.

Fair value measurement hierarchy Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2018

Carrying 
amount 

at 31 
December

Quoted 
prices

Observable 
price 

inputs

Unobservable  
inputs

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Specialised land 14,645 - - 14,645
Total land at fair value 14,645  -   - 14,645

Specialised buildings 67,982 - - 67,982
Total buildings at fair value 67,982  - - 67,982

 -   
Plant and equipment 2,394 - - 2,394
Vehicles 389 - - 389
Total other assets at fair value 2,783 - - 2,783

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2017

Carrying 
amount 

at 31 
December

Quoted 
prices

Observable 
price 

inputs

Unobservable  
inputs

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Specialised land 14,645 - - 14,645
Total land at fair value 14,645  -    -   14,645

Specialised buildings 71,164 - - 71,164
Total buildings at fair value 71,164  -    -   71,164

Plant and equipment 1,930 - - 1,930
Vehicles 359 - - 359
Total other assets at fair value 2,289  -    -   2,289
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)    
Valuations of property, plant and equipment

Fair value assessments have been performed at 31 December 2018 for investment properties. A full revaluation of 
the fair value of land and buildings was conducted in 2017 by the Valuer General with materially different values to the 
carrying value. The annual review conducted by Opteon on the investment properties was carried out with an overall 
increase of $195,000. The next scheduled full revaluation for the Institute will be conducted in 2022.

Specialised land and specialised buildings

The market approach is also used for specialised land, although is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) 
to reflect the specialised nature of the land being valued.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset 
to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest and best use 
consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, 
legally permissible, and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, 
specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.

For the Institute majority of specialised buildings, the depreciated replacement cost method is used, adjusting for the 
associated depreciations. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant, unobservable inputs in nature, 
specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Insitute’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer 
General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the 
valuation is 31 December 2017.

Motor vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method. The TAFE acquires new vehicles and at 
times disposes of them before the end of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market 
is managed by experienced fleet managers in the Institute who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the 
utilisation of the vehicles.

Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold 
other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2018.
Reconciliation of level 3 fair value movements

Specialised land
Specialised 

building
Plant and 
equipment Motor vehicles

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Opening balance 14,645 12,803 71,164 73,871 1,930 2,132 359 429
Purchases (sales) - - - - 1,527 739 145 171
Transfers in (out) of Level 3 - - - - - - - -
Depreciation - - (3,182) (3,201) (1,063) (941) (115) (241)
Revaluation - 1,842 - 494 - - - -
Closing Balance 14,645 14,645 67,982 71,164 2,394 1,930 389 359
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)
Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations
2018 and 2017 Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs 
Specialised land Market approach Community Service Obligation (CSO) adjustment
Specialised buildings Depreciated replacement cost Direct cost per square metre

Motor Vehicles Depreciated replacement cost Cost per unit
Useful life of vehicles

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost Cost per unit
Useful life of plant and equipment

(b) Fair value determination of investment properties

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2018
Carrying 

amount at 31 
Dec 2018

Quoted 
prices

Quoted 
prices

Quoted 
prices

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Shepparton 1,020 - 1,020 -
Seymour 1,250 1,250 -
Investment properties 2,270  -   2,270 -

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2017
Carrying 

amount at 31 
Dec 2017

Quoted 
prices

Quoted 
prices

Quoted 
prices

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Shepparton 935 - 935 -
Seymour 1,140 1,140 -
Investment properties 2,075  -   2,075 -

There were no transfers between Levels during the year.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2018.
The fair value of the Institute’s investment properties at 31 December 2018 have been arrived at on the basisof an 
independent valuation carried out by independent valuers, Opteon Pty. Ltd. The valuation was determined by reference 
to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties with no significant unobservable adjustments, in the same 
location and condition and subject to similar lease and other contracts.
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8.1 Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, 
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons and executive officers for the reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers in Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE are as 
follows:

Position Name Dates of appointment

Minister for Training and Skills and 
Minister for Higher Education The Hon. Gayle Tierney, MP 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Accountable Officer) Mr Paul Culpan 1 January 2018 to 2 March 2018

Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Accountable Officer) Ms Jennifer Oliver 26 February 2018 to 22 May 2018

Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Accountable Officer) Mr Robert Faulkner 23 May 2018 to 1 July 2018

Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Accountable Officer) Mr Travis Heeney 2 July 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member (Chairperson) Ms Joanne Dwyer 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member Mr Rodney Schubert 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2018

Board Member Dr Christine Cunningham 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2018

Board Member Mr Mark O'Sullivan 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member Ms Angela Verde 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member Ms Christine Riches 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member (Staff Representative) Ms Jenny Jackson 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2018

Board Member (Staff Representative) Ms Suellen Loki 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member Mr Antony Walton 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member Ms Fiona Lloyd 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member Ms Rowena Allen 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member (Secretary) Ms Kellie Vise 23 July 2018 to 31 December 2018

Board Member (Secretary) Mr Robert Faulkner 1 January 2018 to 22 July 2018

8. Governance Disclosures
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8. Governance Disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2018

8.1 Responsible persons (continued)
Remuneration

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officers in connection with the management of the Institute 
during the reporting period was in the range: $450,000 – $460,000 ($250,000 – $260,000 in 2017).

Board Income - Excluding Accountable Officers 2018 2017
Less than $10,000 5 3

$10,001 - $20,000 2 -

$30,001 - $40,000 4 5

$40,001 - $50,000 1 -

$50,001 - $60,000 - 1

$70,001 - $80,000 1 1

$90,001 - $100,000 - -

$110,001 - $120,000 - -

$210,001 - $220,000 -  - 

$250,001 - $260,000 -    -   

Total numbers  13  10 
Total remuneration ($'000)  300 326

Remuneration of the Minister for Higher Education and Skills is disclosed in the financial report of the Department of 
Parliamentary Services. Other relevant interests are declared in the Register of Members interests which is completed by 
each member of the Parliament.

8.2 Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and their total remuneration during the 
reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provides a measure of full time 
equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on 
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.
Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid 
or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or 
services.
Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased.
Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation.
Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.

Remuneration of executive officers
Total remuneration

2018 2017
Short-term employee benefits 884 905

Post-employment benefits 85 88

Other long-term benefits - 19

Termination benefits 198 303

Total remuneration 1,167 1,315
Total number of executives 11 10
Total annualised employee equivalents (i) 5.87 7

(i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 
weeks for a reporting period.
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8.3 Related parties
Related parties of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE and its Consolidated group include:

 Ì all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests (controlled entities, 
joint ventures and entities they have significant influence over);

 Ì all cabinet ministers and their close family members;
 Ì all entities that are controlled and consolidated into the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s consolidated financial 

statements; and
 Ì all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of the state 

consolidated financial statements.

Related party transactions Transaction values 
for year ended 31 

December

Balances 
outstanding as at 

31 December

Transactions
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2018 2017 2018 2018
Sale of goods and services

Training, venue hire and sponsorship  -  1  -    -   
Purchase of goods and services

Operational services 67  100  -    -   

Sponsorship and media advertising 1  35  -    -   
Internet services  -   -  -    -   
Contribution to operational activities  -    -  -    -   

68  136  -    -   

During the year, Progressive Carpentry Pty Ltd completed construction works for Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
During the year, Progressive Carpentry Pty Ltd completed construction works for Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
which equated to $66,671.35. The director of Progressive Carpentry Pty Ltd is the Husband of Robyn Farley. Robyn 
Farley was an Executive Manager during 2018. The current contract in place for Progressive Carpentry Pty Ltd has been 
ongoing since 2013.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE also provided sponsorship to NE Tracks LLEN, an organisation which Executive 
Manager Louise Pearce, is the Chairman. The transaction involved payment for sponsorship for the Students Career 
Program Foods & Fibre of $500.00 and a contribution towards Student Careers Hands on Expo of $300.00.

Other related transactions requiring disclosure under the Directions of the Assistant Treasurer have been considered and 
there are no matters to report.
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8.3 Related parties (continued)
Key management personnel of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE includes the Minister for Training and Skills and 
Minister for Higher Education, the Hon. Gayle Tierney, MP, the Secretary, Board members, and members of the Senior 
Executive Team.

• Chief Executive Officer, Mr Paul Culpan;

• Chief Executive Officer, Ms Jennifer Oliver;

• Chief Executive Officer/Chief Financial Officer/Board Secretary, Mr Robert Faulkner;

• Chief Executive Officer, Mr Travis Heeney;

• Board Member (Chairman), Ms Joanne Dwyer;

• Board Member, Mr Rodney Schubert;

• Board Member, Dr Christine Cunningham;

• Board Member, Mr Mark O'Sullivan;

• Board Member, Ms Angela Verde;

• Board Member, Ms Christine Riches;

• Board Member, Ms Jenny Jackson;

• Board Member, Ms Suellen Loki;

• Board Member, Mr Antony Walton;

• Board Member, Ms Fiona Lloyd;

• Board Member, Ms Rowena Allen;

• Chief Financial Officer, Mr Peter Ladd;

• Chief Information Officer, Mr Ian Bell;

• General Manager Education, Ms Margie Fixter;

• Executive Manager, Ms Louise Pearce;

• Executive Manager, Ms Robyn Farley;

• Executive Manager, Ms Sandra Parker;

• Executive Manager, Ms Katherine Ivosevic;

• Executive Manager, Ms Sarah Noel;

• Executive Manager, Mr Paul Nettelbeck;

• Executive Manager, Ms Jodee Price; and

• Executive Manager/Board Secretary, Ms Kellie Vise;

8. Governance Disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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8. Governance Disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2018

8.3 Related parties (continued)
The compensation details listed below excludes the salaries and benefits that the Minister receives.

Compensation of key management personnel
Total remuneration

2018 2017
Short-term employee benefits 1,431 1,334

Post-employment benefits 127 146
Other long-term benefits - 33
Termination benefits 366 303

Total remuneration (ii) 1,924 1,816

(i) Note that key management personnel are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of executive officers 
(Note 8.2)

 8.4 Auditors remuneration

Remuneration of the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office for:
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Remuneration of VAGO fo Audit of the financial statements 24 20

Remuneration of Internal Auditors
Remuneration of Internal Auditors for Internal Audit Services 147 98

Total remuneration of auditors 171 118

The Victorian Auditor-general’s office is not allowed to provide non-audit services.
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9. Other disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2018

9.1 Ex gratia expenses
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Compensation for economic loss 105 -

Total ex gratia expenses 105 -

All ex gratia expenses made during 2018 related to departing employees. No payments were made in 2017.

9.2 Other economic flows included in net result

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability (494) 293

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (494) 293
Net gain/(loss) from revaluation of long service leave liability are changes arising due to changes in bond rates.

‘Other economic flows’ are changes arising from market remeasurements. They include:

 Ì remeasurement arising from employee benefits disclosed above.

This classification is consistent with the whole of government reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements.

9.3 Other equity reserves

Physical asset revaluation surplus 1
2018 2017
$’000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 56,989 54,653

Revaluation increment on non-current asset - 2,336

Balance at 31 December 56,989 56,989

Note:
1. The physical asset revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of land and buildings.

9.4 Events after reporting date
No matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to period end that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the operations of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE in subsequent financial years.
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9.5 Application of standards issued but 
not yet effective
[Below is an extract of the latest listing on impacts 
of AASs that are issued but not yet effective 
included in Appendix 2 of the FRD 120K issued 
by the Department of Finance sourced from the 
Department’s website.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE will need to 
exercise judgement in deciding which issued but not 
yet effective standards may have material impacts on 
their entities and not just relocate this section of the 
FRD into their annual reports.]

A. AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition 
guidance, including AASB 18 Revenue, AASB 11 
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes.

i. Sales of goods

For the sale of products, revenue is currently recognised 
when the goods are delivered to the customers’ 
premises, which is taken to be the point in time at which 
the customer accepts the goods and the related risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer. Revenue is recognised 
at this point provided that the revenue and costs can 
be measured reliably, the recovery of the consideration 
is probable and there is no continuing management 
involvement with the goods.

Under AASB 15, revenue will be recognised when a 
customer obtains control of the goods. For some made-
to-order contracts, the customer controls all of the work 
in progress as the products are being manufactured. 
The revenue from these contracts will be recognised as 
the products are being manufactured. Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE’s assessment indicates that this will 
result in revenue, and some associated costs, for these 
contracts being recognised over time – i.e. before the 
goods are delivered to the customers’ premises. The 
estimated impact on retained earnings at 1 January 2019 
as a result of changes in accounting for contracts that 
have not been completed at that date is not expected 
to be material. The impact of these changes on other 
items in the consolidated statement of financial position 
is an increase in trade and other receivables and a 
decrease in inventories. For certain contracts that permit 
the customer to return an item, revenue is currently 
recognised when a reasonable estimate of the returns 
can be made, provided that all other criteria for revenue 
recognition are met. If a reasonable estimate cannot 
be made, then revenue recognition is deferred until the 
return period lapses or a reasonable estimate of returns 
can be made.

Under AASB 15, revenue will be recognised for these 
contracts to the extent that it is probable that a significant 
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised 
will not occur. As a consequence, for those contracts 
for which Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is unable 
to make a reasonable estimate of return, revenue is 
expected to be recognised sooner than when the return 
period lapses or a reasonable estimate can be made. The 
estimated impact on retained earnings at 1 January 2019 
as a result of changes in accounting for these contracts is 
not expected to be material. The impact of these changes 
on other items in the consolidated statement of financial 
position is a decrease in the refund liability and a new 
asset for the right to recover returned goods.

ii. Rendering of services

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is a training provider, 
as well as performing related services. If the services 
under a single arrangement are rendered in different 
reporting periods, then the consideration is allocated on 
a relative fair value basis between the different services. 
Revenue is currently recognised using the stage-of-
completion method.

Under AASB 15, the total consideration in the service 
contracts will be allocated to all services based on their 
stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices 
will be determined based on Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE’s assessment, the fair value and the stand-
alone selling prices of the services are broadly similar. 
Therefore, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not 
expect the application of AASB 15 to result in significant 
differences in the timing of revenue recognition for these 
services.

iii. Transition

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE plans to adopt AASB 
15 using the cumulative effect method, with the effect 
of initially applying this standard recognised at the date 
of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). As a result, 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE will not apply the 
requirements of AASB 15 to the comparative period 
presented.

B. AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including 
AASB 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases 
– Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted for 
entities that apply AASB 15 at or before the date of initial 
application of AASB 16.
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AASB 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease 
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises 
a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the 
underlying asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments. There are leases 
and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting 
remains similar to the current standard – i.e. recognition 
exemptions for short-term lessors continue to classify 
leases as finance or operating leases.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has completed 
an initial assessment of the potential impact on its 
consolidated financial statements but has not yet 
completed its detailed assessment. The actual impact 
of applying AASB 16 on the financial statements in 
the period of initial application will depend on future 
economic conditions, including Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE’s borrowing rate at 1 January 2019, the 
composition of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s lease 
portfolio at that date, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s 
latest assessment of whether it will exercise any lease 
renewal options and the extent to which Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE chooses to use practical expedients and 
recognition exemptions.

No significant impact is expected for Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE’s operating leases with the value of 
commitments payable within one year equating to $583K.

ii. Transition

As a lessee, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE can either 
apply the standard using a:

– retrospective approach; or

– modified retrospective approach with optional 
practical expedients.

The lessee applies the election consistently to all of its 
leases.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE plans to apply AASB 
16 initially on 1 January 2019, using the modified 
retrospective approach. Therefore, the cumulative effect 
of adopting AASB 16 will be recognised as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 
2019, with no restatement of comparative information.

When applying the modified retrospective approach to 
leases previously classified as operating s under AASB 
17, the lessee can elect, on a lease-by-lease basis, 
whether to apply a number of practical expedients on 
transition. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is assessing 
the potential impact of using these practical expedients.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is not required to make 
any adjustments for leases in which it is a lessor except 
where it is an intermediate lessor in a sub-lease.

C. AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

The Australian Accounting Standards Board has 
issued the new Australian accounting standard and 
implementation guidance on the recognition and 
measurement of income for NFP entities. AASB 1058 
Income for Not-for-Profit Entities is the new Australian 
entities that apply specifically to transactions where 
the consideration to acquire accounting standard that 
establishes an asset is significantly less than fair value 
principally to enable a NFP entity to further its objectives; 
and to volunteer services received.

Where such a transaction meets the requirements of 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
revenue will be recognised in accordance with the 
requirements of this standard.

Where a transaction does not meet the requirements to 
be accounted for under AASB 15 as it is either not an 
enforceable contract or the performance obligations are 
not sufficiently specific (refer below), Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE needs to assess whether the transaction 
should be accounted for under AASB 1058.

i. Volunteer services

An accounting policy choice is provided in relation to 
volunteer services.

– Where volunteer services can be reliably measured, 
an entity can elect to recognise the fair value of these 
services as an asset or expense.

– Local governments, government departments, 
general government sectors (GGS) and whole of 
government are required to recognise volunteer 
services if they would have been purchased had they 
not been donated and the fair value can be reliably 
measured.
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ii. Transition

There are three main ways to transition to AASB 1058 and 
a number of practical expedients to ease the burden of 
applying the standard.

– retrospective approach with no practical expedients; or

– Partial retrospective approach with optional practical 
expedients; or

– Cumulative effect

To reduce the initial adoption burden, a number of 
practical expedients are available. These include:

– For completed contracts, no restatement is required 
of contracts that begin and complete in same annual 
reporting period;

– For completed contracts at the beginning of earliest 
period presented, there is an exemption from applying 
AASB 1058 retrospectively.

– No matter which transition option is elected, an asset, 
other than lease assets (refer below), acquired for 
consideration that was significantly less than fair value 
principally to enable the entity to further its objectives 
that was previously measured at significantly less than 
fair value is not required to be remeasured at fair value.

A completed contract is a contract or transaction for which 
the entity has recognised all of the income in accordance 
with AASB 1004.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE plans to apply AASB 
1058 initially on 1 January 2019, using the modified 
retrospective approach. Therefore, the cumulative effect of 
adopting AASB 1058 will be recognised as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 
2019, with no restatement of comparative information.

E. AASB 17 Insurance Contracts

AASB 17 requires all insurance contracts to be accounted 
for in a consistent manner and requires insurance 
obligations to be accounted for using current values. It 
has an effective date of 1 January 2021. Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE does not expect this standard to have a 
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

F. Other standards

The following amended standards and interpretations 
are not expected to have a significant impact on 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s consolidated financial 
statements.

–– Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 
Cycle – Amendments to AASB 101 and AASB 128. 
–– Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions (Amendments to

AASB 102).

–– Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to 
AASB 140).

–– Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture

(Amendments to AASB 110 and AASB 128).

–– IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 
Advance Consideration. –– IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments.

–– AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual Improvements 2015-17 Cycle

–– AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Plan Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement

–– AASB 2018-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced disclosure requirements

–– AASB 2018-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Licensors
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9.6 Changes in accounting policies
A. Estimated impact of the adoption of AASB 9
AASB 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to 
buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces AASB 139 financial instruments:
The adoption of the standard has not impacted opening balances.

i. Classification and measurement – Financial assets
AASB 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business model in 
which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics. AASB 9 contains three principal classification categories 
for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value in other comprehensive income and fair value through 
profit or loss. The standard eliminates the existing AASB 139 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and 
available for sale.
Under AASB 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are 
never bifurcated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.
There have been no material changes to measurement categories due to the adoption of the standard.

ii. Impairment – Financial assets and contract assets
AASB 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in AASB 139 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The 
new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income but not to investments in equity instruments. Under AASB 9, credit losses are recognised 
earlier than under AASB 139. Please refer to note 7.1.
For assets in the scope of the AASB 9 impairment model, impairment losses are generally expected to
increase and become more volatile. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has determined that the application of AASB 9's 
impairment requirements at 1 January 2018 and no additional allowance for impairment is considered necessary.

iii. Classification – Financial liabilities
AASB 9 largely retains the existing requirements in AASB 139 for the classification of financial liabilities. However, under 
AASB 139 all fair value changes of liabilities designated as at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss, whereas under 
AASB 9 these fair value changes are generally presented as follows:
–– the amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented in 
OCI; and
–– the remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has not designated any financial liabilities at FVTPL and it has no current intention to 
do so.
The adoption of the standard has not resulted in any material impact on the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE's 
classification of financial liabilities at 1 January 2018.
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Disclosure Index

Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

Report of Operations

Charter and purpose

1 FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Minister 5

2 FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties linked to a summary of activities, 
programs and achievements 5-15

3 FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided including communities served 5-15

Management and structure

4 FRD 22H Organisational structure and chart, detailing members of the governing board, 
Audit Committee, CEO, senior officers and their responsibilities 20-25

Financial and other information

5 FRD 03A Accounting for Dividends N/A

6 FRD 07B Early adoption of authoritative accounting pronouncements 87-90

7 FRD 10A Disclosure Index 91-94

8 FRD 17B Long Service leave and annual leave for employees 51-53, 86

9 FRD 20A Accounting for State motor vehicle lease arrangements prior to 1 Feb 2004 N/A

10 FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives, performance against objectives and 
achievements 

15, 16, 
18-19

11 FRD 22H Occupational health and safety statement including performance indicators,
performance against those indicators 28

12 FRD 22H Workforce data for current and previous reporting period including a 
statement on the application of employment and conduct principles and that 
employees have been correctly classified in the workforce data collections

26-27

13 FRD 22H Summary of the financial results, with comparative information for the 
preceding four reporting periods 16

14 FRD 22H Summary of significant changes in financial position 8-14, 15, 
16

15 FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects, including significant changes in key initiatives and 
projects from previous years and expectations for the future 8-14, 15

16 FRD 22H Post-balance sheet date events likely to significantly affect subsequent 
reporting periods 86

17 FRD 22H Summary of application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 31

18 FRD 22H The report of operations shall provide a discussion and analysis of the entity’s
operating results and financial position and include details about significant 
factors that affect the entity’s performance

16, 18-19

19 FRD 22H TAFE workforce inclusion policy (where a TAFE has one), including a 
measurable target and report on the progress towards the target

N/A

20 FRD 22H Schedule of any government advertising campaign in excess of $100,000 or 
greater (exclusive of GST).

29
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Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

21 FRD 22H Statement, where applicable, on the implementation and compliance with the
National Competition Policy, including compliance with the requirements of 
Victoria’s Competitive Neutrality Policy and any subsequent reform

31

22 FRD 22H Statement, to the extent applicable, on the application and operation of the 
Carers Recognition Act 2012 (Carers Act), and the actions that were taken 
during the year to comply with the Carers Act

31

23 FRD 22H Summary of application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
including disclosures required by the Act 31

24 FRD 22H and
FRD 24D

Summary of Environmental Performance. 33-34

25 FRD 22H Consultants:
Report of Operations must include a statement disclosing each of the 
following:
1. Total number of consultancies of $10,000 or more (excluding GST)
2. Location (e.g. website) of where the schedule with the below details of the 

consultancies over $10,000 has been made publicly available
• Consultant engaged
• Brief summary of project
• Total project fees approved (excluding GST)
• Expenditure for reporting period (excluding GST)
• Any future expenditure committed to the consultant for the project

3. Total number of consultancies individually valued at less than $10,000 and 
the total expenditure for the reporting period

30

26 FRD 22H List of other information available on request from the Accountable Officer, 
and which must be retained by the Accountable Officer 37

27 FRD 22H An entity shall disclose the following in the report of operations:
a)     Total entity ICT Business As Usual (BAU) expenditure for the full 12
         month reporting period; and
b)     Total entity ICT Non-Business As Usual expenditure for the full 12 month
         reporting period; and provide a breakdown for:

(i) Operational expenditure (OPEX); and
(ii) Capital expenditure (CAPEX).

29

28 FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy Disclosures 31

29 FRD 26B Accounting for VicFleet motor vehicle lease arrangements on or after 1 
February 2004 N/A

30 SD 5.1.4 Financial management compliance attestation

The Responsible Body must attest to compliance with applicable 
requirements in the FMA, the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer 
and the Instructions, and disclose all Material Compliance Deficiencies

36

31 FRD 119A Transfers through contributed capital 68

32 SD 5.2.1(a) The Accountable Officer must implement and maintain a process to ensure 
the Agency’s Annual Report is prepared in accordance with the FMA, the 
Standing Directions, the Instructions, applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards and Financial Reporting Directions. 4, 35, 39

33 SD 5.2.3 The report of operations must be signed and dated by the Responsible Body 
or a member of the Responsible Body. 4

34 CG 10 (clause 27) Summary of Major Commercial Activities 29

35 CG 12 (clause
33)

TAFE Institute Controlled Entities.
29



Disclosure Index     |    93

Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Financial statements required under part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994

36 SD 5.2.2(b) The declaration required under Direction 5.2.2(a) must state that in the joint 
opinion of the signing persons: the financial statements present fairly the 
financial transactions during the reporting period and the financial position at 
the end of that period; and
• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

requirements in the FMA, the Directions, the Financial Reporting Directions 
and Australian Accounting Standards.

40

Other requirements under standing direction 4.2 / Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA)

37 SD 5.2.2(a)
and
FMA s49

An Agency’s financial statements must include a signed and dated declaration 
by:
• the Accountable Officer;
• subject to Direction 5.2.2(c), the CFO; and
• for Agencies with a statutory board or equivalent governing body 

established by or under statute, a member of the Responsible Body.

40

38 FRD 30D Rounding of amounts 47

39 SD 3.2.1.1(c) The Responsible Body must establish an Audit Committee to:
• review annual financial statements and make a recommendation to the 

Responsible Body as to whether to authorise the statements before they 
are released to Parliament by the Responsible Minister

35, 37

Other requirements as per financial reporting directions in notes to the financial statements

40 FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia payments 86

41 FRD 21C Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officer and Other Personnel
(contractors with significant management responsibilities) in the Financial 
Report

81-84

42 FRD 102A Inventories 44, 55, 63, 
67-68

43 FRD 103G Non-financial physical assets 43-44, 59-
60, 78, 80

44 FRD 105B Borrowing costs N/A

45 FRD 106B Impairment of assets 63, 70-71

46 FRD 107B Investment properties 59-60, 
77-80

47 FRD 109A Intangible assets 43-44, 61

48 FRD 110A Cash flow statements 45, 67-68

49 FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations 54

50 FRD 113A Investment in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates N/A

51 FRD 114B Financial instruments – general government entities and public non-financial
corporations

43, 63, 65, 
67-76

52 FRD 120L Accounting and reporting pronouncements applicable to the reporting period 47
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Compliance with other legislation, subordinate instruments and policies 

53 Legislation The TAFE institute Annual Report must contain a statement that it complies 
with all relevant legislation, and subordinate instruments, (and which should 
be listed in the Report) including, but not limited to, the following: 
• Education and Training Reform Act 2006 (ETRA) 
• TAFE institute constitution 
• Directions of the Minister for Training and Skills (or predecessors) 
• TAFE institute Commercial Guidelines 
• TAFE institute Strategic Planning Guidelines 
• Public Administration Act 2004 
• Financial Management Act 1994 
• Freedom of Information Act 1982 
• Building Act 1983 
• Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
• Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 

4

54 ETRA s3.2.8 Statement about compulsory non-academic fees, subscriptions and charges 
payable in 2018 32

55 Policy Statement that the TAFE institute complies with the Victorian Public Sector 
Travel Policy 32

56 Key Performance 
Indicators

See table on page 6 of the guidelines for required formatting.
Institutes to report against:
• Employment costs as a proportion of training revenue;
• Training revenue per teaching FTE;
• Operating margin percentage;
• Training revenue diversity.

18-19

57 PAEC and
VAGO
(June 2003 
Special Review -
Recommendation 
11)

• Financial and other information on initiatives taken or strategies relating to 
the institute’s overseas operations

• Nature of strategic and operational risks for overseas operations
• Strategies established to manage such risks of overseas operations
• Performance measures and targets formulated for overseas operations
• The extent to which expected outcomes for overseas operations have been 

achieved.

8, 14, 49
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